

# Enhanced Dissipation for Two-Dimensional Hamiltonian Flows

Elia Bruèd, Michele Coti Zelati & Elio Marconi

Communicated by J. BEDROSSIAN

# Abstract

Let  $H \in C^1 \cap W^{2,p}$  be an autonomous, non-constant Hamiltonian on a compact 2-dimensional manifold, generating an incompressible velocity field  $b = \nabla^{\perp} H$ . We give sharp upper bounds on the enhanced dissipation rate of *b* in terms of the properties of the period T(h) of the closed orbit  $\{H = h\}$ . Specifically, if  $0 < v \ll 1$  is the diffusion coefficient, the enhanced dissipation rate can be at most  $O(v^{1/3})$  in general, the bound improves when *H* has isolated, non-degenerate elliptic points. Our result provides the better bound  $O(v^{1/2})$  for the standard cellular flow given by  $H_{\rm c}(x) = \sin x_1 \sin x_2$ , for which we can also prove a new upper bound on its mixing rate and a lower bound on its enhanced dissipation rate. The proofs are based on the use of action-angle coordinates and on the existence of a good invariant domain for the regular Lagrangian flow generated by *b*.

Mathematics Subject Classification: 35Q35 · 35Q49 · 76F25

# Contents

Advection–Diffusion Equations	•
1.1. Mixing and Enhanced Dissipation	
1.2. Elliptic Points	
1.3. Cellular Flows	
Gradient Estimates for Transport Equations	
2.1. Construction of a Good Invariant Domain	
2.2. Action-Angle Coordinates for $C^2$ Hamiltonians	
2.3. Less Regular Hamiltonians	
Mixing, Dissipation, and the Role of Elliptic Points	
3.1. General Upper Bounds on the Dissipation Rate	
3.2. Bounds on Mixing and Enhanced Dissipation Rates Near Elliptic Points	
3.3. On the Behavior of $T'$ Near the Elliptic Point	
The Case of a Cellular Flow	
	Advection–Diffusion Equations         1.1. Mixing and Enhanced Dissipation         1.2. Elliptic Points         1.3. Cellular Flows         Gradient Estimates for Transport Equations         2.1. Construction of a Good Invariant Domain         2.2. Action-Angle Coordinates for $C^2$ Hamiltonians         2.3. Less Regular Hamiltonians         Mixing, Dissipation, and the Role of Elliptic Points         3.1. General Upper Bounds on the Dissipation Rate         3.2. Bounds on Mixing and Enhanced Dissipation Rates Near Elliptic Points         3.3. On the Behavior of $T'$ Near the Elliptic Point         The Case of a Cellular Flow

4.1	Estimates on $T(h)$
4.2	. Reparametrization of the Hamiltionian and Regularity of the Change of Vari-
	ables
4.3	. Polynomial Bound for the Gradient of the Flow
4.4	. Global Mixing Estimate
4.5	. Towards Enhanced Dissipation
Refere	ences

#### 1. Advection–Diffusion Equations

Let (M, g) be a compact 2-dimensional manifold, possibly with boundary, and consider an autonomous, non-constant Hamiltonian H which generates a velocity field  $b := \nabla^{\perp} H$ , tangent to the boundary whenever  $\partial M \neq \emptyset$ . We are interested in the long-time dynamics of the scalar function  $\rho^{\nu} : [0, \infty) \times M \rightarrow \mathbb{R}$  subject to the advection–diffusion equation

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \rho^{\nu} + b \cdot \nabla \rho^{\nu} = \nu \Delta \rho^{\nu}, \\ \rho^{\nu}(0, \cdot) = \rho_0. \end{cases}$$
(A-D)

Here,  $\rho_0 : M \to \mathbb{R}$  is an assigned mean-free initial datum and  $\nu > 0$  is the diffusivity parameter. When  $\partial M \neq \emptyset$ , we prescribe homogeneous Neumann conditions  $\partial_n \rho^{\nu} = 0$ , where *n* is the outer normal to the boundary.

In the non-diffusive case, i.e. when v = 0, (A-D) reduces to the standard transport equation

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \rho + b \cdot \nabla \rho = 0, \\ \rho(0, \cdot) = \rho_0. \end{cases}$$
(T)

The goal of this article is to study the mixing and diffusive properties of (A-D) and (T) in terms of sharp decay rates for  $\rho^{\nu}$  and  $\rho$ , under general assumptions on the Hamiltonian *H*.

#### 1.1. Mixing and Enhanced Dissipation

Enhanced dissipation typically refers to the accelerated decay of solutions to (A-D) due to the interaction of transport and diffusion. We are interested in putting on sound mathematical grounds the following statement from [29]:

The homogenization of a passive tracer in a flow with closed mean streamlines occurs in two stages: first, a rapid phase dominated by shear-augmented diffusion over a time  $\sim \nu^{-1/3}$ , in which initial values of the tracer are replaced by their (generalized) average about a streamline; second, a slow phase requiring the full diffusion time  $\sim \nu^{-1}$ .

The above statement can be interpreted in terms of the behavior of the  $L^2$  norm of the solution  $\rho^{\nu}$  to (A-D). In view of the energy balance

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|\rho^{\nu}\|^{2} + 2\nu \|\nabla \rho^{\nu}\|^{2} = 0, \quad \forall t \ge 0,$$

all mean-free solutions decay exponentially to zero as  $e^{-c_pvt}$ , where  $c_p > 0$  is related to the Poincaré constant. Hence, the natural diffusive time-scale  $O(v^{-1})$ appears trivially, and no role is played by the velocity field *b*. Now, the abovementioned *slow phase* refers to such diffusive behavior for the average of  $\rho^v$  on the streamlines of the Hamiltonian *H*: indeed, if  $\rho^v$  were constant on the streamlines, it would then follow that  $b \cdot \nabla \rho^v = 0$ , implying that the diffusive behavior is the only possible one. On the contrary, the rest of the solution is conjectured to undergo the *rapid phase*, in which decay happens on a much faster time-scale  $O(v^{-1/3})$ . These considerations are at the heart of the concept of *enhanced dissipation*, formalized in the definition below.

**Definition 1.1.** Let  $v_0 \in (0, 1)$  and  $\lambda : (0, v_0) \rightarrow (0, 1)$  be a continuous increasing function such that

$$\lim_{\nu \to 0} \frac{\nu}{\lambda(\nu)} = 0.$$

The velocity field *b* is *dissipation enhancing* at rate  $\lambda(\nu)$  if there exists  $A \ge 1$  only depending on *b* such that if  $\nu \in (0, \nu_0)$  then for every  $\rho_0 \in L^2$  with zero streamlines-average we have the enhanced dissipation estimate

$$\|\rho^{\nu}(t)\|_{L^2} \le A \mathrm{e}^{-\lambda(\nu)t} \|\rho_0\|_{L^2},$$

for every  $t \ge 0$ .

While the above concept has been more or less informally studied in the physics literature since the late nineteenth century, it has received much attention by the mathematical community only recently, starting with the seminal article [12]. In this work, enhanced dissipation has been proven to be equivalent to the non-existence of non-trivial  $H^1$ -eigenfunctions of the transport operator  $b \cdot \nabla$ : in particular, functions that are constant on streamlines are eigenfunctions and hence have to be excluded when studying enhanced dissipation in the two-dimensional, autonomous setting. From a quantitive point of view, the picture is now quite clear in the context of shear flows [2,4,6,11,15,16,32] and radial flows [14,15]. For more general velocity fields, there are only some results linking mixing rates and enhanced dissipation time-scales [13,20], and others that study the interplay between regularity and dissipation for an averaged equation stemming from general hamiltonians. However, a precise quantitative picture is still missing.

The goal of this article is to analyze enhanced dissipation in the case of velocity fields originating from general (regular) Hamiltonians. According to Definition 1.1, the case  $\lambda(\nu) = c_p \nu^{1/3}$  is precisely the one described in [29]. One of our main results is that the exponent 1/3 is the best possible in the autonomous setting.

**Theorem 1.** Let  $p \ge 2$  and  $H \in C^1 \cap W^{2,p}(M)$  be such that  $b := \nabla^{\perp} H$  is dissipation enhancing with rate  $\lambda(v)$ . Then

$$\lambda(\nu) \le C_0 \nu^{1/3}, \text{ for every } \nu \in (0, 1),$$
 (1.1)

for some positive constant  $C_0 = C_0(H)$ .

In the language of [29], we prove that the rapid phase cannot happen before a time-scale  $O(v^{-1/3})$ . The exponent 1/3 is not always the correct one, at least in the sense of Definition 1.1. It is achieved, for instance, by the shear flow  $b = (x_2, 0)$  on  $\mathbb{S}^1 \times [0, 1]$ , namely the Couette flow [24]. However, it is well-known that the presence of critical points can slow down the dissipation [6]. This particular exponent is due to dimensionality, regularity and the autonomous nature of our problem. Indeed:

- Contact Anosov flows on smooth odd dimensional connected compact Riemannian manifolds have an enhanced dissipation time-scale O(|ln ν|<sup>2</sup>), see [13];
- There exist Hölder continuous shear flows on the two-dimensional torus with an enhanced dissipation time-scale  $O(v^{-\gamma})$ , for any  $\gamma \in (0, 1)$ , see [11,32]
- Non-autonomous velocity fields generated as solutions to the stochastic Navier– Stokes equations on the two-dimensional torus have an enhanced dissipation time-scale O(|lnv|), see [5].

The proof of Theorem 1 is based on the following key observation: any Hamiltonian  $H \in C^1 \cap W^{2,p}(M)$  has an invariant domain  $\Omega$  where the gradient of the flow map grows at most linearly in time. It follows that

$$\|\rho^{\nu}(t) - \rho(t)\|_{L^2}^2 \lesssim \nu t^3 \quad \forall t \ge 1,$$
 (1.2)

provided  $\rho_0$  is concentrated in  $\Omega$ . In view of the inviscid conservation  $\|\rho(t)\|_{L^2} = \|\rho_0\|_{L^2}$ , estimate (1.2) provides the desired upper bound on  $\lambda(\nu)$  by choosing  $t \sim \nu^{-1/3}$ .

As mentioned earlier, the enhanced dissipation properties of *b* are closely linked to its mixing features, as defined below.

**Definition 1.2.** Let  $\gamma : [0, +\infty) \to [0, +\infty)$  be a continuous and decreasing function vanishing at infinity. The velocity field *b* is *mixing* with rate  $\gamma(t)$  if for every  $\rho_0 \in H^1$  with zero streamlines-average we have the following estimate

$$\|\rho(t)\|_{H^{-1}} \le \gamma(t) \|\rho_0\|_{H^1}, \qquad (1.3)$$

for every  $t \ge 0$ .

Due to the conservation of the  $L^2$  norm in the transport equation (T), the mixing estimate (1.3) implies that the  $H^1$  norm of  $\rho$  has to grow at least as  $1/\gamma(t)$ . This has been already observed in the case of shear flow with critical points [6], and we will provide another example when dealing with the standard cellular flow below (see Sect. 1.3).

#### 1.2. Elliptic Points

In the presence of elliptic points, mixing rates can be slower and in turn affect the enhanced dissipation time-scale. This is explicit in the case of shear flows  $b = (v(x_2), 0)$  on  $\mathbb{T}^2$ , where the crucial role is played by the order of vanishing of derivatives of v at critical points [6]. The case of a velocity field generated by



Fig. 1. A A general hamiltonian on a periodic domain. B The standard cellular flow

a Hamiltonian is in general much more complicated, as level sets of H are not, as for shear flows, simply horizontal lines (see Fig. 1A).

By compactness, *H* always admits a minimum point in  $p \in M$ . To avoid degeneracies, we assume that  $p \notin \partial M$  is an isolated elliptic point, i.e.  $\nabla^2 H(p)$  is positive definite. To study the system around  $p \in M$ , we use local coordinates such that p = (0, 0).

Let  $r_0 > 0$  be fixed (possibly small), and let  $r \in (0, r_0)$ . Consider the unique closed orbit  $\ell_r = \{x \in M : H(x) = H(re_1)\} \subset M$  containing the point  $re_1 = (r, 0)$ , and denote by T(r) its period, which is a  $C^1$  function since  $r \to H(re_1)$  is  $C^1$  and T is a  $C^1$  function of H. By using that  $H(re_1) \sim r^2$ ,  $||b||_{L^{\infty}(\ell_r)} \leq r$ , and (2.4) we immediately get T(0) > 0.

**Theorem 2.** Let  $H \in C^3(M)$  have an isolated, non-degenerate elliptic point  $p \in M \setminus \partial M$ . Assume that  $T'(r) \sim r^{\beta}$  for some  $\beta \geq 0$ . Assume that  $b := \nabla^{\perp} H$  is mixing (resp. dissipation enhancing) with rate  $\gamma(t)$  (resp.  $\lambda(v)$ ). Then

$$\gamma(t) \geq \frac{C_0}{t! r^{\frac{2}{\beta+1}}} \quad and \quad \lambda(\nu) \leq C_0 \nu^{\frac{1+\beta}{3+\beta}}, \text{ for every } \nu \in (0,1),$$

for some positive constant  $C_0 = C_0(H)$ .

These estimates are obtained by studying the dynamics around the elliptic point of *H*. This local analysis improves the available bound on the mixing rate for Hamiltonian flows when  $\beta > 1$  (see [7]), as well as the bound on the dissipation enhancing rate as soon as  $\beta > 0$ , compare with Theorem 1.

The cellular flow  $H_{c}(x) = \sin x_1 \sin x_2$  satisfies the assumption of the theorem with  $\beta = 1$ .

*Remark 1.3.* The heuristic built on the case of shear flows, which allows to deduce the dissipation enhancing rate  $\lambda(\nu) \sim \nu^{\frac{1}{3}}$  from the mixing rate  $\gamma(t) \sim t^{-1}$  does not match with the previous result: this difference can be attributed to the different geometry of the level sets of *H* in a shear flow and around an elliptic point.

#### 1.3. Cellular Flows

Cellular flows (along with shear and radial flows) are perhaps the most studied two-dimensional flows, especially from the point of view of fluid dynamics, homogenization and as random perturbations of dynamical systems [10, 18, 21, 25, 28, 29]. Strictly related to the idea of dissipation enhancement, there has been a number of articles [19, 22, 23] dealing with suitable rescalings of cellular flows (which create small scales, and hence roughness in the velocity field) and proving that the dissipation time can be made arbitrarily small by taking the rescaling parameter small.

On the contrary, we here consider the standard cellular flow  $H_{C}(x) = \sin x_1 \sin x_2$ on  $\mathbb{T}^2$ , as depicted in Fig. 1b, and prove a direct estimate on the mixing and enhanced dissipation rates.

**Theorem 3.** Consider the standard cellular flow  $b_c = \nabla^{\perp} H_c$  with  $H_c(x) = \sin x_1 \sin x_2$  on  $\mathbb{T}^2$ . Then for every  $\varepsilon > 0$  the vector field  $b_c$  is mixing with rate

$$\frac{1}{\mathrm{t}t\rangle} \lesssim \gamma_{\mathsf{C}}(t) \lesssim_{\varepsilon} \frac{1}{\mathrm{t}t\rangle^{\frac{1}{3}-\varepsilon}},\tag{1.4}$$

and dissipation enhancing with rate

$$\lambda_{\mathbf{c}}(\nu) \lesssim \nu^{1/2}.\tag{1.5}$$

We stress that in the statement above  $\leq$  and  $\leq_{\varepsilon}$  denote that the inequalities hold up to a universal constant and up to a constant depending only on  $\varepsilon$  respectively.

The lower bound on the mixing rate and the upper bound on the enhanced dissipation rate are a consequence of Theorem 2. As we shall see, our approach is based on a careful study of the action-angle coordinates near the elliptic and hyperbolic points of  $H_c$ , without making use of the well-known estimates of the coefficient of effective diffusivity of  $H_c$  from homogenization theory [10,18,25]. We stress that the rates (1.4) and (1.5) are global in nature, and do not distinguish where the initial datum is supported. In fact (see Section 4.4), the upper bound in (1.4) comes from data that are supported near the hyperbolic points of  $H_c$ , as these are the hardest to control with our methods. Nonetheless, Proposition 4.6 below provides an algebraic bound on the  $W^{1,1}$  norm of the associated Lagrangian flow and implies that no datum can mix faster than algebraic. An extensive study of such  $W^{1,1}$  bounds for Hamiltonian flows in the presence of hyperbolic points will be the subject of a forthcoming work.

Near elliptic points, the solution is mixed at the faster rate tt)<sup>-1+ $\varepsilon$ </sup>, where  $\varepsilon > 0$  can be taken arbitrarily small, while away from both elliptic and hyperbolic points, the mixing rate improves to tt)<sup>-1</sup>. In particular, the lower bound in (1.4) is sharp.

A natural question concerns lower bounds for the enhanced dissipation rate in (1.5). Our Definition 1.1 requires initial data that have zero-average over streamlines. While this property that is preserved by the viscous evolution in the setting of shear and radial flows, for the complicated geometry of streamlines of cellular flows it is no longer the case. In particular, [13, Theorem 2.1] does not apply directly. However, we can prove that the system loses a fraction of its initial energy at a time-scale shorter than the diffusive one. **Theorem 4.** Consider the standard cellular flow  $b_{c} = \nabla^{\perp} H_{c}$  with  $H_{c}(x) = \sin x_{1} \sin x_{2}$  on  $\mathbb{T}^{2}$  and let  $\rho^{\nu}$  the solution of (A-D). Then for every  $q \in \left(\frac{24}{25}, 1\right)$  there is  $\nu_{0} = \nu_{0}(q) > 0$  such that

$$\|\rho^{\nu}(\nu^{-q})\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \leq \frac{7}{8} \|\rho_{0}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}$$
(1.6)

for every  $v \in (0, v_0)$  and every  $\rho_0 \in L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)$  with zero-average over streamlines. Further, if  $\rho_0$  is supported away from the hyperbolic points, then we can take any  $q \in (\frac{2}{3}, 1)$ .

In the case of shear flows, the estimate (1.6) can be iterated to produce exponential decay at a rate proportional to  $\nu^q$ . For cellular flows, this procedure cannot be implemented since  $\rho^{\nu}$  at  $t = \nu^{-q}$  cannot be guaranteed to have zero-average over streamlines. In fact, we cannot expect that the whole  $L^2$  norm decays at an enhanced rate, since streamline average can be dynamically created. At this stage, it is even unclear that one can obtain enhanced dissipation by simply removing the streamline average from the whole solution.

When the initial data are supported away from hyperbolic points (say, in one of the cells), then they are mixed at the faster rate 4t)<sup>-1+ $\varepsilon$ </sup>, yielding the improvement in the range of q above (see Remark 4.8). However, due to diffusion, the support of the solution will immediately reach the hyperbolic point, so that (again) the estimate cannot be iterated.

#### 2. Gradient Estimates for Transport Equations

In this section, we focus on the transport equation (T) and its associated flow  $X : \mathbb{R} \times M \to M$  defined as the solution to the ODE

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t X(t, x) = b(t, X(t, x)), \\ X(0, x) = x. \end{cases}$$
(2.1)

Besides some regularity assumptions, which will be specified later, we assume that H = 0 on  $\partial M$  whenever  $\partial M \neq \emptyset$ . We will call a set  $E \subset M$  *invariant* (under the flow X) if X(t, E) = E for every  $t \ge 0$ . The key step in the proof of Theorem 1 is the existence of a good invariant set for X.

**Proposition 2.1.** Let  $H \in C^1 \cap W^{2,p}(M)$  for some  $p \ge 1$ . There exists an invariant open set  $\Omega \subset M$  such that for any  $\rho_0 \in C^1(M)$  with  $\operatorname{spt}(\rho_0) \subset \Omega$ , the corresponding solution  $\rho$  of (T) satisfies

$$\|\nabla\rho(t)\|_{L^{p}} \le C(\Omega, H)(1+t)\|\nabla\rho_{0}\|_{L^{\infty}},$$
(2.2)

for all  $t \geq 0$ .

Despite the possible presence of hyperbolic points in H, the set  $\Omega$  is one where only shearing is possible. As a consequence, the growth of  $\nabla \rho$  is limited to be linear in time, excluding for instance exponential growth.

# 2.1. Construction of a Good Invariant Domain

To build a suitable invariant set, the idea is to employ a variation of the classical Morse-Sard lemma [27,30] proven in [8].

**Lemma 2.2.** Let  $H \in C^1 \cap W^{2,p}(M)$  for some  $p \ge 1$ . There exist a constant  $c_0 > 0$  and an interval  $(h_0, h_1) \subset H(M)$  such that  $|b(x)| \ge c_0$  for any x in the invariant set  $\Omega := H^{-1}((h_0, h_1))$ . Moreover,  $\Omega \cap \partial M = \emptyset$ .

*Proof.* Define the set of critical values of H by

$$\mathcal{S} := \{h \in \mathbb{R} : \exists x \in M \text{ with } H(x) = h \text{ and } b(x) = 0\},\$$

and by  $\mathcal{R} := H(M) \setminus S$  the set of regular values. Since  $H \in C^1(M)$  and M is compact, the set S is closed and therefore  $\mathcal{R}$  is open in the range of H. As shown in [8], such H enjoys the Sard property, namely S has zero 1-dimensional Lebesgue measure on  $\mathbb{R}$ . The latter can be reduced to a statement on a local chart, hence the fact that M is not a subset of  $\mathbb{R}^2$  is irrelevant for the sake of applying [8]. In particular, the sets  $\mathcal{R}$  and  $\Omega_* := H^{-1}(\mathcal{R})$  are nonempty open subsets of H(M) and M, respectively. It is straightforward to check that the map  $c_S : \mathcal{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  defined by

$$c_S(h) = \min_{x \in H^{-1}(h)} |b(x)|$$

is continuous on  $\mathcal{R}$ . Being H non-constant, there exists  $c_0 > 0$  such that  $c_S(h) > 2c_0$  for some  $h \in \mathcal{R}$ . Hence, we can find and interval  $(h_0, h_1) \subset \mathcal{R}$  with  $h \in (h_0, h_1)$  such that  $c_S > c_0$  on  $(h_0, h_1)$ . We now set  $\Omega := H^{-1}((h_0, h_1))$ . If  $\partial M \cap \Omega = \emptyset$ , we are done. Otherwise, since H vanishes on the boundary,  $0 \in (h_0, h_1)$ . Replacing  $(h_0, h_1)$  with smaller interval  $(h'_0, h'_1)$  not containing 0, we can redefine  $\Omega = H^{-1}((h'_0, h'_1))$ . The fact that  $\Omega$  is invariant follows from its definition, and hence the proof is over.

*Remark 2.3.* At this stage, the above lemma holds true for more general Lipschitz Hamiltonians whose gradient is a function of bounded variation, see [8].

# 2.2. Action-Angle Coordinates for $C^2$ Hamiltonians

Assume that  $H \in C^2(M)$ , and let  $\Omega$  and  $c_0 > 0$  as in Lemma 2.2 so that in particular  $\nabla H \neq 0$  in  $\Omega$ . Let  $x_0 \in M$  be such that  $H(x_0) = h_0$  and denote by  $\Omega_0$ the connected component of  $\Omega$  such that  $x_0 \in \partial \Omega_0$ . Given  $h \in (h_0, h_1)$ , we denote the period (relative to the flow map X in (2.1)) of the closed orbit  $\{H = h\}$  by T(h), while  $x = x(h) : (h_0, h_1) \to M$  stands for the solution to the ODE

$$\begin{cases} x'(h) = \frac{\nabla H}{|\nabla H|^2}(x(h)), \\ x(h_0) = x_0. \end{cases}$$

Using, the flow map X in (2.1), we define the coordinates  $\Phi : \mathbb{S}^1 \times (h_0, h_1) \to \Omega$  by

$$\Phi(\theta, h) := X(\theta T(h), x(h)).$$

Here  $\mathbb{S}^1 = [0, 1)$ . Notice that H(x(h)) = h for any  $h \in (h_0, h_1)$ . The key properties of  $\Phi$  are contained in the following proposition.

**Lemma 2.4.** The map  $\Phi : \mathbb{S}^1 \times (h_0, h_1) \to \Omega_0$  and its inverse are  $C^1$  functions. Moreover,  $\Phi^{-1}(x) = (\Psi(x), H(x))$  where  $\Psi : \Omega_0 \to \mathbb{S}^1$  is a  $C^1$  function satisfying

$$\Psi(X(t,x)) = \Psi(x) + \frac{t}{T(H(x))},$$
(2.3)

for any  $x \in \Omega$ ,  $t \ge 0$ .

*Proof.* We begin by proving that  $T: (h_0, h_1) \to (0, \infty)$  is  $C^1$ . It holds

$$T(h) = \int_{\{H=h\}\cap\Omega_0} \frac{1}{|b|} d\mathscr{H}^1 = \int_{\{h_0 \le H \le h\}\cap\Omega_0} \nabla \cdot \left(\frac{\nabla H}{|\nabla H|^2}\right) d\mathscr{H}^2 + T(h_0)$$
$$= \int_{h_0}^h \int_{\{H=r\}\cap\Omega_0} \nabla \cdot \left(\frac{\nabla H}{|\nabla H|^2}\right) |\nabla H|^{-1} d\mathscr{H}^1 dr + T(h_0),$$
(2.4)

where we used the divergence theorem and the coarea formula. Using that  $|\nabla H| \ge c_0$  in  $\Omega$ , it is now immediate to see that  $T \in C^1((h_0, h_1))$ .

The fact that  $b \in C^1(M)$  implies that  $\Phi$  is  $C^1$ -regular. More precisely, pointwise in  $(\theta, h) \in \mathbb{S}^1 \times (h_0, h_1)$  we have

$$\partial_h \Phi(\theta, h) = T'(h) \nabla^{\perp} H(X(\theta T(h), x(h))) + D_x X(\theta T(h), x(h)) \frac{\nabla H}{|\nabla H|^2}(x(h))$$

and

$$\partial_{\theta} \Phi(\theta, h) = T(h) \nabla^{\perp} H(\Phi(\theta, h)), \qquad (2.5)$$

so that standard regularity estimates for flow maps of  $C^1$  velocity fields imply

$$|\partial_h \Phi(\theta, h)| \le |T'(h)| |b| (\Phi(\theta, h)) + \frac{e^{T(h) ||H||_{C^2}}}{|b|(x(h))}$$

and

$$|\partial_{\theta} \Phi(\theta, h)| \le T(h)|b|(\Phi(\theta, h)).$$

It is simple to see that  $\Phi$  is injective and surjective. To prove that the inverse is  $C^1$  we show that  $D\Phi$  is invertible at any point. Now, from the identity

$$H(\Phi(\theta, h)) = H(x(h)) = h,$$

and (2.5) we deduce that

$$\begin{cases} \partial_h \Phi \cdot \nabla H(\Phi) = 1, \\ \partial_\theta \Phi = T(h) \nabla^{\perp} H(\Phi), \end{cases}$$
(2.6)

for any  $\theta \in \mathbb{S}^1$  and  $h \in (h_0, h_1)$ . Since  $(\nabla H, \nabla^{\perp} H)$  is an orthogonal and nondegenerate frame, the  $C^1$  property of  $\Phi^{-1}$  follows. Specifically, from (2.6) we find

$$|\det D\Phi(\theta, h)| = T(h), \qquad (2.7)$$

and therefore

$$|D\Phi^{-1}|(\Phi(\theta,h)) \le \frac{|D\Phi|(\theta,h)|}{|\det D\Phi(\theta,h)|} \le \left(\frac{|T'(h)|}{T(h)} + 1\right)|b|(\Phi(\theta,h)) + \frac{1}{T(h)}\frac{e^{T(h)||H||_{C^2}}}{|b|(x(h))}.$$
(2.8)

In order to prove (2.3), observe that  $x = \Phi(\Psi(x), H(x)) = X(\Psi(x)T(H(x)))$ , x(H(x))), and therefore

$$X(t, x) = X(\Psi(x)T(H(x)) + t, x(H(x))), \quad \forall t \ge 0.$$

On the other hand

$$\begin{aligned} X(t,x) &= \Phi(\Psi(X(t,x)), H(X(t,x))) \\ &= \Phi(\Psi(X(t,x)), H(x)) = X(\Psi(X(t,x))T(H(x)), x(H(x))). \end{aligned}$$

Comparing the two expressions above and recalling that  $s \to X(sT(h), h)$  is 1-periodic and injective on [0, 1) we obtain (2.3) and complete the proof.  $\Box$ 

With the above lemma at hand, and in particular the explicit formula (2.3), the proof of Proposition 2.1 follows immediately.

*Proof of Proposition 2.1 when*  $H \in C^2$ . We denote by  $d_M(\cdot, \cdot)$  the Riemannian distance on *M*. Invoking (2.3), for any  $x, y \in \Omega_0$  and  $t \ge 0$  it holds

$$\begin{aligned} d_M(X(t, x), X(t, y)) &= d_M\left(\left(\Phi\left(\Psi(X(t, x))\right), H(X(t, x))\right), \Phi\left(\left(\Psi(X(t, y))\right), H(X(t, y))\right)\right) \\ &= d_M\left(\left(\Phi\left(\Psi(x) + \frac{t}{T(H(x))}\right), H(x)\right), \Phi\left(\left(\Psi(y) + \frac{t}{T(H(y))}\right), H(y)\right)\right) \\ &\lesssim |\Psi(x) - \Psi(y)| + t \frac{|T(H(x)) - T(H(y))|}{T(H(x))T(H(y))} + |H(x) - H(y)| \\ &\lesssim (1+t)d(x, y), \end{aligned}$$

where we used that the period *T* is bounded below away from zero on  $(h_0, h_1)$  thanks to (2.4). In particular, if  $\rho_0 \in C^1$  is supported in  $\Omega$ , then  $\rho(t, x) = \rho_0(X(-t, x))$  and

$$\|\nabla\rho(\cdot,t)\|_{L^p} \lesssim \|\nabla\rho_0\|_{L^{\infty}}(1+t),$$

for any  $p \in [1, \infty]$ , thereby concluding the proof.

# 2.3. Less Regular Hamiltonians

When  $H \in C^1 \cap W^{2,p}(M)$  we cannot appeal to action-angle variables to study the flow map X on good invariant domains. To be precise, we cannot even appeal to classical notions of flow since  $b \in C^0 \cap W^{1,p}(M)$  is not regular enough.

In this setting, we understand *X* as the unique *regular Lagrangian flow* (RLF in short) associated to *b* in the sense of [3,17]. The latter is by definition a measurable map  $X : \mathbb{R} \times M \to M$  satisfying the following properties:

- (i)  $X(t, \cdot)$  conserves the volume measure of M for any  $t \ge 0$ ;
- (ii) there exists a negligible set (with respect to the volume measure)  $N \subset M$  such that  $t \to X(t, x)$  is absolutely continuous for any  $x \in M \setminus N$  and solves (2.1).

Under our assumptions  $b \in C^0 \cap W^{1,p}$ ,  $\nabla \cdot b = 0$ , there exists a unique RLF associated to *b*. Uniqueness is understood in the following weak sense: if  $X_1$  and  $X_2$  are two RLF, then there exists a negligible set  $N \subset M$  such that  $X_1(t, x) = X_2(t, x)$  for any  $x \in M \setminus N$  and  $t \ge 0$ .

The crucial point in our analysis is to estimate the rate of separation of trajectories, as in the following proposition.

# **Proposition 2.5.** [Linear growth of the $H^1$ norm of the flow]

Let  $b = \nabla^{\perp} H \in C^0 \cap W^{1,p}(M)$  and  $c_0 > 0$ ,  $\Omega := H^{-1}((h_0, h_1))$  be as in Lemma 2.2. Then there are two constants r, C > 0 and a function  $g \in W^{1,p}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R})$ such that for every  $\overline{z} \in \Omega$  and  $z \in B_r(\overline{z})$  and every t > 0 it holds

$$d_M(X(t,z), X(t,\bar{z})) \le C(1+t) \left| d_M(z,\bar{z}) + |g(H(z)) - g(H(\bar{z}))| \right|,$$

where X is a suitable representative of the unique RLF associated to b. In particular there is  $C' = C'(b, c_0, p) > 0$  such that

$$||X(t, \cdot)||_{W^{1,p}(\Omega)} \le C'(1+t),$$

for every t > 0.

The proof of Proposition 2.5 follows from the work [26]. For the reader's convenience we outline the main steps. By combining [26, Lemma 3.2] and [26, Remark 3.3], we get the following result.

**Lemma 2.6.** Let  $b = \nabla^{\perp} H$ ,  $c_0 > 0$  and  $\Omega := H^{-1}((h_0, h_1))$  as in Lemma 2.2. Then there exist a representative of the regular Lagrangian flow X, a function  $g \in W_{loc}^{1,p} \cap C^0(\mathbb{R})$  and r > 0 such that for every t > 0 the following holds: there exist  $c_1, c_2 > 0$  such that  $\forall \overline{z} \in \Omega$  and every  $z \in B_r(\overline{z})$  there exists s > 0 such that  $(1) d_M(X(t, \overline{z}), X(s, z)) \le c_1 |H(\overline{z}) - H(z)|,$ (2)  $|t - s| \le c_2 (|g(H(\overline{z})) - g(H(z))| + d_M(\overline{z}, z)).$ 

*Remark* 2.7. The constants  $c_1$ ,  $c_2$  are explicitly chosen at the end of the proof of [26, Lemma 3.2] as

$$c_1 = 2(c_0^{-1} + 1), \qquad c_2 = \tilde{N}(c_0^{-1} + 1)^2(1 + 2\|b\|_{L^{\infty}}) + 2(c_0^{-1} + 1),$$

where  $\tilde{N} = \left\lceil \frac{t \|b\|_{L^{\infty}}}{\bar{r}} \right\rceil$  and  $\bar{r} > 0$  is the size of a suitable covering of  $\Omega$  depending only on  $c_0$  and H. In particular  $c_1$  is independent on t and there is  $\tilde{c} = \tilde{c}(H, c_0) > 0$  such that  $c_2 \leq \tilde{c}(1 + t)$ .

*Remark 2.8.* The function g can be chosen as

$$g(h) = \int_{\{H \le h\}} |Db|(z) \mathrm{d}z,$$

in particular if  $b \in W^{1,p}(\Omega)$ , then  $g \in W^{1,p}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R})$ , see [26].

*Remark* 2.9. The proof of Lemma 2.6 (see [26]) can be interpreted in terms of the action-angle variables in the smooth setting: the time *s* in the statement of Lemma 2.6 can be chosen as the time needed by the trajectory starting at *z* to run across the same number of periods as the trajectory starting at  $\bar{z}$  at time *t* and reach the same angular variable of the point  $X(t, \bar{z})$ .

*Proof of Proposition 2.5.* The statement immediately follows from Lemma 2.6 and Remark 2.7 by estimating

$$d_M(X(t, z), X(t, \bar{z})) \le d_M(X(t, z), X(s, z)) + d_M(X(s, z), X(t, \bar{z}))$$
  
$$\le \|b\|_{L^{\infty}} |t - s| + d_M(X(s, z), X(t, \bar{z}))$$

and using that H is Lipschitz.

*Proof of Proposition 2.1 in the general case.* We appeal to the following fundamental property of RLF [17]:

$$\rho(t, x) = \rho_0(X(-t, x)), \text{ for a.e. } x \in M.$$

In particular, the regularity of *X* proved in Proposition 2.5 immediately implies Proposition 2.1.  $\Box$ 

# 3. Mixing, Dissipation, and the Role of Elliptic Points

This section is dedicated to the proofs of the main results of this paper. These concern the general bound on the dissipation rate of Theorem 1, a sharp treatment of the possible elliptic points in H (cf. Theorem 2), and a detailed analysis of the mixing properties of a standard cellular flow as in Theorem 3.

#### 3.1. General Upper Bounds on the Dissipation Rate

First we notice that to prove the upper bound (1.1), it is enough to exhibit an initial datum  $\rho_0$  for which the corresponding solution  $\rho^{\nu}$  of (A-D) cannot diffuse at a time-scale faster than  $O(\nu^{-1/3})$ . For this purpose, we will choose  $\rho_0 \in C^1(M)$  supported in the good invariant set  $\Omega$  of Proposition 2.1. The idea is to turn (2.2) into a quantitative vanishing viscosity bound, as stated in the result below.

**Lemma 3.1.** Let  $v \in [0, 1)$  and  $H \in C^1 \cap W^{2, p}(M)$  for some  $p \ge 2$ . For any  $\rho_0 \in C^1(M)$  with  $\operatorname{spt}(\rho_0) \subset \Omega$ , there holds the estimate

$$\|\rho^{\nu}(t) - \rho(t)\|_{L^2}^2 \le C\nu(1+t)^3 \|\nabla\rho_0\|_{L^{\infty}}^2, \quad \forall t \ge 0,$$

where  $\rho^{\nu}$ ,  $\rho$  solve (A-D) and (T), respectively, with the same initial datum  $\rho_0$  and  $C = C(H, \Omega) > 0$ .

$$\partial_t (\rho^{\nu} - \rho) + b \cdot \nabla (\rho^{\nu} - \rho) = \nu \Delta \rho^{\nu}.$$
(3.1)

Testing (3.1) with  $\rho^{\nu} - \rho$ , integrating on *M*, and using the antisymmetry of the transport term, we get

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|\rho^{\nu} - \rho\|_{L^{2}}^{2} = -2\nu \int_{M} \nabla \rho^{\nu} \cdot (\nabla \rho^{\nu} - \nabla \rho) \mathrm{d}x \leq -2\nu \|\nabla \rho^{\nu}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + 2\nu \|\nabla \rho^{\nu}\|_{L^{2}} \|\nabla \rho\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \leq \nu \|\nabla \rho\|_{L^{2}}^{2}.$$
(3.2)

By Hölder's inequality and Proposition 2.1 with  $p \ge 2$ , we have

$$u \| \nabla \rho(t) \|_{L^2}^2 \lesssim v \| \nabla \rho(t) \|_{L^p}^2 \lesssim v (1+t)^2 \| \nabla \rho_0 \|_{L^\infty}^2.$$

Plugging this into (3.2) and integrating in time, we obtain

$$\|\rho^{\nu}(t)-\rho(t)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \lesssim \nu \|\nabla\rho_{0}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} \int_{0}^{t} (1+s)^{2} \mathrm{d}s,$$

and the proof is over.

With the above proximity estimate at hand, the proof of Theorem 1 follows from a suitable lower bound on the energy dissipation rate.

*Proof of Theorem 1.* We take  $\rho_0$  as in the above Lemma 3.1, and we assume that the corresponding solution  $\rho^{\nu}$  to (A-D) experiences enhanced dissipation at rate  $\lambda(\nu)$ . According to Definition 1.1, this implies that

$$\left(1 - A e^{-\lambda(\nu)t}\right) \|\rho_0\|_{L^2} \le \|\rho_0\|_{L^2} - \|\rho^{\nu}(t)\|_{L^2}$$
  
=  $\|\rho(t)\|_{L^2} - \|\rho^{\nu}(t)\|_{L^2} \lesssim \sqrt{\nu(1+t)^3} \|\nabla\rho_0\|_{L^{\infty}},$  (3.3)

or equivalently

$$\left(1 - C(\Omega, H) \frac{\|\nabla \rho_0\|_{L^{\infty}}}{\|\rho_0\|_{L^2}} \sqrt{\nu(1+t)^3}\right) \le A e^{-\lambda(\nu)t}, \quad \forall t \ge 0.$$
(3.4)

Fix now  $\varepsilon_0 > 0$  so that

$$\varepsilon_0 := \frac{1}{2} \left[ \frac{\|\rho_0\|_{L^2}}{C(\Omega, H) \|\nabla \rho_0\|_{L^{\infty}}} \right]^{2/3}$$

and  $\nu_0 \in (0, \varepsilon_0^3)$ . Taking  $t = \varepsilon_0 \nu^{-1/3} \ge 1$  in (3.4), we end up with

$$\frac{1}{2} \leq A e^{-\varepsilon_0 \lambda(\nu) \nu^{-1/3}}, \quad \forall \nu \in (0, \nu_0),$$

which readily implies the bound (1.1) and concludes the proof.

3.2. Bounds on Mixing and Enhanced Dissipation Rates Near Elliptic Points

Let H, p = (0, 0),  $r_0$ ,  $\ell_r$  as in Sect. 1.2. The first lemma crucially associates the behavior of T near r = 0 with the growth of the flow map of  $b = \nabla^{\perp} H$ .

**Lemma 3.2.** Let  $H \in C^3(M)$  and (0,0) as above. Then there exists a constant  $C_1 = C_1(H) > 0$  such that

$$|\nabla X(t,x)| \le 1 + C_1 r |T'(r)| \frac{t}{T(r)},$$
(3.5)

for every  $r \in (0, r_0)$ ,  $t \ge 1$ , and  $x \in \ell_r$ .

*Proof.* We preliminary observe that it is enough to estimate the growth of  $|\nabla X(t, re_1)|$ , as the same estimate will hold for any point on  $\ell_r$ . We are interested in the range  $t \gg T(r) \sim 1$ .

Let  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , and  $\delta > 0$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} |X(kT(r), re_1) - X(kT(r), (r+\delta)e_1)| \\ &\leq |X(kT(r), re_1) - X(kT(r+\delta), (r+\delta)e_1)| \\ &+ |X(kT(r+\delta), (r+\delta)e_1) - X(kT(r), (r+\delta)e_1)| \\ &\leq \delta + \|b\|_{L^{\infty}(\ell_r)} k |T(r+\delta) - T(r)|. \end{aligned}$$

Noting that  $||b||_{L^{\infty}(\ell_r)} \leq r$ , dividing by  $\delta$  and sending  $\delta \to 0$  we find

$$|\nabla X(kT(r), re_1) \cdot e_1| \le 1 + C_1 rk|T'(r)|,$$

by choosing  $k \sim t/T(r)$  we deduce

$$|\nabla X(t,x) \cdot e_1| \le 1 + C_2 r |T'(r)| \frac{t}{T(r)},$$

for every  $r \in (0, r_0)$ ,  $t \ge 1$ , and  $x \in \ell_r$ . Here we used that

$$|\nabla X(t+T(r), x) \cdot e_1| \le |\nabla X(t, X(T(r), x)) \cdot e_1| e^{CT(r)}$$

for any  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  and that  $T(r) \leq C$ , provided  $r \leq r_0$ .

To estimate  $|\nabla X(t, x)|$  it is enough to observe that  $re_1$  is almost normal to  $\ell_r$  at any  $x \in \ell_r$ , provided  $r \leq r_0$  is small enough. On the other hand, the tangential derivative of X(t, x) along  $\ell_r$  is bounded by  $||b||_{L^{\infty}(\ell_r)} \leq r$ . This concludes the proof.

Next we show that an estimate of type (3.5) along with  $T'(r) \sim r^{\beta}$  implies sharper bounds on the mixing rate and bounds on the enhanced dissipation timescale for the Hamiltonians considered.

**Lemma 3.3.** Let  $H \in C^{3}(M)$  and (0, 0) as above. Assume further that the period satisfies

$$T'(s) \sim s^{\beta}, \quad as \quad s \to 0$$
 (3.6)

for some  $\beta \ge 0$ . Then the corresponding enhanced dissipation rate of b has the upper upper bound

$$\lambda(\nu) \le C_2 \nu^{\frac{1+\beta}{3+\beta}},\tag{3.7}$$

for some constant  $C_2 = C_2(H) > 0$ .

*Proof.* Fix  $r \in (0, r_0)$  and consider a smooth and mean-free initial datum  $\rho_{0,r}$  supported in an invariant region contained in the annulus  $B_{ar}(0) \setminus B_r(0)$ , where a > 1 is a constant depending only on H. Accordingly, we normalize the initial datum so that  $\|\rho_{0,r}\|_{L^2} = 1$ , implying  $\|\nabla\rho_{0,r}\|_{L^2} \sim 1/r$ , and denote by  $\rho^{\nu}$ ,  $\rho$  the corresponding solutions to (A-D) and (T), respectively, with the same initial datum  $\rho_{0,r}$ .

By (3.6) and using that the Lagrangian flow preserves the Lebesgue measure, we can estimate

$$\int_0^t \|\nabla\rho(s)\|_{L^2}^2 \mathrm{d}s \le \|\nabla\rho_{0,r}\|_{L^2}^2 \int_0^t \sup_{B_{ar}(0)\setminus B_r(0)} |\nabla X(s,\cdot)|^2 \mathrm{d}s \lesssim t/r^2 + r^{2\beta}t^3,$$

for every  $t \ge 1$ , with constant depending only on *H*. An optimization in *r* then leads to the integral bound

$$\nu \int_0^t \|\nabla \rho(s)\|_{L^2}^2 \mathrm{d}s \lesssim \nu (1+t)^{\frac{3+\beta}{1+\beta}}, \quad \forall t \ge 0.$$

Now, thanks to (3.2), the above integral controls the difference between  $\rho^{\nu}$  and  $\rho$  in  $L^2$ . Thus, as we did for (3.3), we assume that  $\rho^{\nu}$  is enhanced dissipated at rate  $\lambda(\nu)$  and obtain the inequality

$$1 - C(H)\sqrt{\nu(1+t)^{\frac{3+\beta}{1+\beta}}} \le A\mathrm{e}^{-\lambda(\nu)t}, \quad \forall t \ge 0.$$

Choosing

$$\varepsilon_0 := \frac{1}{2} \left[ \frac{1}{2C(\Omega, H)} \right]^{2\frac{1+\beta}{3+\beta}}, \qquad 0 < \nu_0 < \varepsilon_0^{\frac{3+\beta}{1+\beta}}, \qquad t = \varepsilon_0 \nu^{-\frac{1+\beta}{3+\beta}} \ge 1$$

eventually leads to

$$\frac{1}{2} \leq A e^{-\varepsilon_0 \lambda(\nu) \nu^{-\frac{1+\beta}{3+\beta}}}, \quad \forall \nu \in (0, \nu_0),$$

which readily implies the bound (3.7) and concludes the proof.

*Remark 3.4.* In a similar fashion, we can obtain a lower bound on the mixing rate for such *b*. Indeed, let  $\rho_0 = \rho_{0,r}$  exactly as in the proof of Lemma 3.3. If *b* is mixing with rate  $\gamma(t)$  as in Definition 1.2, then we have

$$\|\rho(t)\|_{H^{-1}} \gtrsim \frac{\|\rho(t)\|_{L^2}^2}{\|\rho(t)\|_{H^1}} \gtrsim \|\rho_0\|_{H^1} \frac{1}{1/r^2 + r^{\beta - 1}t}$$

where the constants depends only on *H*. Hence  $\gamma(t) \gtrsim \frac{1}{1/r^2 + r^{\beta-1}t}$  for every r > 0. We choose  $r = t^{-\frac{1}{\beta+1}}$  and find the lower bound  $\gamma(t) \gtrsim \frac{1}{t^{\frac{2}{\beta+1}}}$ .

*Proof of Theorem 2.* It is enough to apply Lemma 3.3 and the above remark.

# 3.3. On the Behavior of T' Near the Elliptic Point

We conclude this section by showing that for every smooth Hamiltonian, T' is bounded near zero (so  $\beta \ge 0$  in (3.6)).

**Lemma 3.5.** Let  $H \in C^3(M)$  and (0, 0) be as above. Then  $|T'(s)| \leq 1$  as  $s \to 0$ . *Proof.* We have  $T(s) = \overline{T}(H(se_1))$ , where  $\overline{T}(h) = \int_{\{H=h\}} \frac{1}{|b|} d\mathcal{H}^1$ . In particular

$$|T'(s)| = |\overline{T}'(H(se_1))\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}s}H(se_1)| \sim |\overline{T}'(H(se_1))|s,$$

therefore it follows from (2.4) that it is sufficient to prove

$$\left| \int_{\{H=s^2\}} \nabla \cdot \left( \frac{\nabla H}{|\nabla H|^2} \right) |\nabla H|^{-1} \mathrm{d}\mathscr{H}^1 \right| \lesssim s^{-1}.$$
(3.8)

Observe that a trivial estimate on the size of the integrand would give a useless final upper bound of size  $s^{-2}$ . We compare *H* with the quadratic Hamiltonian  $\tilde{H}(x) = H(0) + x^{\perp}D^2 H(0)x$  to obtain a cancellation at the first non-trivial order: observe that the period of the trajectories associated to  $\tilde{H}$  is constant, in particular

$$\int_{\{\tilde{H}=s^2\}} \nabla \cdot \left(\frac{\nabla \tilde{H}}{|\nabla \tilde{H}|^2}\right) |\nabla \tilde{H}|^{-1} \mathrm{d}\mathscr{H}^1 = 0.$$

For shortness we denote by  $f = \nabla \cdot \left(\frac{\nabla H}{|\nabla H|^2}\right) |\nabla H|^{-1}$  and  $\tilde{f} = \nabla \cdot \left(\frac{\nabla \tilde{H}}{|\nabla \tilde{H}|^2}\right) |\nabla \tilde{H}|^{-1}$ . It is straightforward to check that for every  $x \in \{H = s^2\} \cup \{\tilde{H} = s^2\} \subset \{c_1 s^2 \le H \le c_2 s^2\}$ , for appropriate constants  $c_1, c_2 > 0$ , it holds

$$|f(x)| \lesssim s^{-3}, \quad |\nabla f(x)| \lesssim s^{-4}, \quad |\tilde{f}(x)| \lesssim s^{-3}, \quad |\nabla \tilde{f}(x)| \lesssim s^{-4},$$

Let  $\tilde{\Omega}$  be a sufficiently small neighborhood of (0, 0) and  $g : \tilde{\Omega} \to \mathbb{R}^2$  be the map g(x) = tx where t = t(x) is the unique value t > 0 such that  $\tilde{H}(tx) = H(x)$ .

Let  $g : {H = s^2} \to {\tilde{H} = s^2}$  be the map g(x) = tx where t = t(s, x) is the unique value t > 0 such that  $g(x) \in {\tilde{H} = s^2}$ . By construction we have

$$|g - \mathrm{Id}| \lesssim s^3$$
,  $|g^{-1} - \mathrm{Id}| \lesssim s^3$ ,  $|dg - \mathrm{Id}| \lesssim s$ ,  $|dg^{-1} - \mathrm{Id}| \lesssim s$  as  $s \to 0$ .

In particular it holds

$$\begin{split} \left| \int_{\{H=s^2\}} f \mathrm{d}\mathscr{H}^1 \right| &= \left| \int_{\{H=s^2\}} f \mathrm{d}\mathscr{H}^1 - \int_{\{\tilde{H}=s^2\}} \tilde{f} \mathrm{d}\mathscr{H}^1 \right| \\ &\leq \int_{\{H=s^2\}} |f - \tilde{f}| \mathrm{d}\mathscr{H}^1 + \left| \int_{\{H=s^2\}} \tilde{f} \mathrm{d}\mathscr{H}^1 - \int_{\{\tilde{H}=s^2\}} \tilde{f} \mathrm{d}\mathscr{H}^1 \right|. \end{split}$$

Since on  $\{H = s^2\}$  we have the estimates

$$|H - \tilde{H}| \lesssim s^3, \quad |\nabla H - \nabla \tilde{H}| \lesssim s^2, \quad |\nabla^2 H - \nabla^2 \tilde{H}| \lesssim s, \quad |\nabla H|, |\nabla \tilde{H}| \sim s$$

then  $|f - \tilde{f}| \lesssim s^{-2}$ . Moreover  $\mathscr{H}^1(\{H = s^2\}) \sim s$ , therefore we can estimate

$$\int_{\{H=s^2\}} |f - \tilde{f}| \mathrm{d}\mathscr{H}^1 \lesssim s^{-1}.$$

Now we consider

$$\begin{split} \left| \int_{\{H=s^2\}} \tilde{f} d\mathcal{H}^1 - \int_{\{\tilde{H}=s^2\}} \tilde{f} d\mathcal{H}^1 \right| \\ &= \left| \int_{\{H=s^2\}} \tilde{f} d\mathcal{H}^1 - \int_{\{H=s^2\}} \tilde{f} \circ g^{-1} dg_{\sharp} \mathcal{H}^1 |_{\{\tilde{H}=s^2\}} \right| \\ &\leq \int_{\{H=s^2\}} |\tilde{f} - \tilde{f} \circ g^{-1}| d\mathcal{H}^1 \\ &+ \left| \int_{\{H=s^2\}} \tilde{f} \circ g^{-1} d\mathcal{H}^1 \right| \\ &- \int_{\{H=s^2\}} \tilde{f} \circ g^{-1} dg_{\sharp} \mathcal{H}^1 |_{\{\tilde{H}=s^2\}} \right|. \end{split}$$

Since  $|\nabla \tilde{f}| \lesssim s^{-4}$  and  $|g^{-1} - \text{Id}| \lesssim s^3$ , we can estimate

$$\int_{\{H=s^2\}} |\tilde{f} - \tilde{f} \circ g^{-1}| \mathrm{d}\mathscr{H}^1 \lesssim 1.$$

Moreover, by the estimates on dg we obtain that  $g_{\sharp} \mathscr{H}^{1}|_{\{\tilde{H}=s^{2}\}} = \psi \mathscr{H}^{1}|_{\{H=s^{2}\}}$ with  $|\psi - 1| \leq s$ . Since  $|\tilde{f} \circ g^{-1}| \leq s^{-3}$ , then we deduce that

$$\left|\int_{\{H=s^2\}} \tilde{f} \circ g^{-1} \mathrm{d}\mathscr{H}^1 - \int_{\{H=s^2\}} \tilde{f} \circ g^{-1} \mathrm{d}g_{\sharp}\mathscr{H}^1|_{\{\tilde{H}=s^2\}}\right| \lesssim s^{-1}.$$

Combining the previous estimates we obtain (3.8) and therefore the claim.

# 4. The Case of a Cellular Flow

We consider the  $2\pi$ -periodic Hamiltonian  $H_{c}(x) = H_{c}(x_1, x_2) = \sin x_1 \sin x_2$ and the associated velocity field

$$b_{\mathsf{C}}(x) = b_{\mathsf{C}}(x_1, x_2) = (-\sin x_1 \cos x_2, \cos x_1 \sin x_2).$$

We restrict our analysis to the domain  $[0, \pi]^2$  and observe that  $H_c \ge 0$  on  $[0, \pi]$ ,  $H_c = 0$  at  $\partial [0, \pi]^2$  and  $(\pi/2, \pi/2)$  is the only maximum point. For any  $h \in (0, 1)$  we denote by T(h) the period of the closed trajectory supported in  $\{H_c = h\} \cap [0, \pi]^2$ .

**Lemma 4.1.** For any  $h \in (0, 1)$  we have

$$2h(1-h) \le |b_{\mathsf{C}}(x)|^2 \le 2(1-h^2)$$
, for any  $x \in \{H_{\mathsf{C}} = h\} \cap [0,\pi]^2$ .

*Proof.* Fix  $x \in \{H_{c} = h\} \cap [0, \pi]^{2}$ , and compute

$$|b_{\mathsf{c}}(x)|^{2} = -2(\sin x_{1} \sin x_{2})^{2} + (\sin x_{1})^{2} + (\sin x_{2})^{2} = -2h^{2} + (\sin x_{1})^{2} + (\sin x_{2})^{2}.$$

This yields

$$-2h^{2} + (\sin x_{1})^{2} + (\sin x_{2})^{2} \le -2h^{2} + 2 = 2(1 - h^{2}),$$

and

$$-2h^{2} + (\sin x_{1})^{2} + (\sin x_{2})^{2} = -2h^{2} + 2h + (\sin x_{1} - \sin x_{2})^{2} \ge 2h(1-h),$$

as we wanted.

#### 4.1. Estimates on T(h)

We provide an explicit formula for T(h) and we show that  $T(h) \sim 1 + \ln(1/h)$  up to the second order.

**Lemma 4.2.** For any  $h \in (0, 1)$  we have

$$T(h) = 4 \int_{h}^{1} \frac{1}{\sqrt{x^2 - h^2}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - x^2}} dx = 4 \int_{0}^{1} \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - x^2}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - (1 - h^2)x^2}} dx.$$
(4.1)

*Proof.* We parametrize a quarter of the closed curve  $\{H_{c} = h\} \cap [0, \pi]^{2}$  with a curve  $[\arcsin h, \pi/2] \ni t \to (t, \gamma(t))$ , where  $\sin t \sin \gamma(t) = h$ . It is not hard to check that

$$|\gamma'(t)|^2 + 1 = \frac{h^2 - 2h^2 \sin^2 t + \sin^4 t}{\sin^2 t (\sin^2 t - h^2)}.$$
(4.2)

Moreover, from the identity  $|b_{c}(x_1, x_2)|^2 = \sin^2 x_1 \cos^2 x_2 + \cos^2 x_1 \sin^2 x_2$  we get

$$|b_{c}(t,\gamma(t))|^{2} = \frac{h^{2} - 2h^{2}\sin^{2}t + \sin^{4}t}{\sin^{2}t}.$$
(4.3)

By combining (4.2) and (4.3) we can compute the period

$$T(h) = 4 \int_{\arcsin h}^{\pi/2} \frac{\sqrt{|\gamma'(t)|^2 + 1}}{|b_{c}(t, \gamma(t))|} dt = 4 \int_{\arcsin h}^{\pi/2} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\sin^2 t - h^2}} dt,$$

and the first identity in (4.1) follows from the change of variables  $x = \sin t$ . To prove the second identity in (4.1) we employ the change of variables  $y = \sqrt{\frac{1-x^2}{1-h^2}}$ .

**Lemma 4.3.** The function T is smooth in (0, 1), and there exists C > 1 such

$$\frac{T(h)}{1+\ln(1/h)} + h|T'(h)| + h^2|T''(h)| \le C,$$
  
$$-T'(h) \ge \frac{1}{Ch},$$
 (4.4)

for any  $h \in (0, 1)$ .

*Proof.* From the second identity in (4.1) it is immediate to verify that  $T \in C^{\infty}((0, 1))$ . Let us estimate T(h). We first consider the case  $h \in (1/2, 1)$ :

$$T(h) \le 10 \int_{h}^{1} \frac{1}{\sqrt{x - h}\sqrt{1 - x}} dx$$
  
=  $10 \int_{h}^{\frac{h+1}{2}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{x - h}\sqrt{1 - x}} dx + 10 \int_{\frac{h+1}{2}}^{1} \frac{1}{\sqrt{x - h}\sqrt{1 - x}} dx$   
 $\le \frac{10\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{1 - h}} \int_{h}^{\frac{h+1}{2}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{x - h}} dx + \frac{10\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{1 - h}} \int_{\frac{h+1}{2}}^{1} \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - x}} dx$   
= 40.

Let us now assume that  $h \in (0, 1/2)$ , we have

$$\begin{split} T(h) &\leq 4 \int_{h}^{1} \frac{1}{\sqrt{x^{2} - h^{2}}} \mathrm{d}x = 4 \int_{1}^{1/h} \frac{1}{\sqrt{z^{2} - 1}} \mathrm{d}z \\ &= 4 \int_{1}^{2} \frac{1}{\sqrt{z^{2} - 1}} \mathrm{d}z + 4 \int_{2}^{1/h} \frac{1}{\sqrt{z^{2} - 1}} \mathrm{d}z \\ &\leq 10 + 10 \ln(1/h) \,, \end{split}$$

where we used the change of variables z = x/h.

To study T'(h), we differentiate the second identity in (4.1) and obtain

$$-T'(h) = 4 \int_0^1 \frac{1}{(1-x^2)^{1/2}} \frac{hx^2}{(1-(1-h^2)x^2)^{3/2}} \mathrm{d}x.$$

We can split the integral into

$$-hT'(h) = 4 \int_0^{1-h^2} \frac{1}{(1-x^2)^{1/2}} \frac{h^2 x^2}{(1-(1-h^2)x^2)^{3/2}} dx$$

$$+4\int_{1-h^2}^{1} \frac{1}{(1-x^2)^{1/2}} \frac{h^2 x^2}{(1-(1-h^2)x^2)^{3/2}} dx$$
  
=: *I* + *II* ,

and estimate

$$I \leq \frac{4h^2(1-h^2)}{(1-(1-h^2)^2)^{1/2}} \int_0^{1-h^2} \frac{x}{(1-(1-h^2)x^2)^{3/2}} dx$$
  
$$\leq 4h \int_0^{1-h^2} \frac{d}{dx} (1-(1-h^2)x^2)^{-1/2} dx$$
  
$$\leq 4.$$

From

$$\frac{4h^2(1-h^2)}{(1-(1-h^2)^3)^{3/2}} \int_{1-h^2}^1 \frac{x}{(1-x^2)^{1/2}} \mathrm{d}x \le II \le \frac{4}{h} \int_{1-h^2}^1 \frac{x}{(1-x^2)^{1/2}} \mathrm{d}x$$

we deduce that

$$1-h \le II \le 8.$$

Since  $I \ge 0$ , T' is continuous in h = 1 and  $-T'(1) = \pi$  we also deduce (4.4).

To conclude the proof we have to show the upper bound on  $h^2|T''(h)|$ . Let us introduce the auxilary function

$$G(s) := 4 \int_0^1 \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - x^2}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - sx^2}} \, \mathrm{d}x \qquad s \in (0, 1).$$

Observe that  $T(h) = G(1 - h^2)$ , hence

$$h^{2}T''(h) = -2h^{2}G'(1-h^{2}) + 4h^{4}G''(1-h^{2}) = hT'(h) + 4h^{4}G''(1-h^{2}).$$

We already know that  $h|T'(h)| \leq 12$ . To estimate the second term we use the identity

$$\begin{aligned} h^{4}|G''(1-h^{2})| &= 3\int_{0}^{1} \frac{1}{(1-x^{2})^{1/2}} \frac{h^{4}x^{4}}{(1-(1-h^{2})x^{2})^{\frac{5}{2}}} dx \\ &= 3\int_{0}^{1-h^{2}} \frac{1}{(1-x^{2})^{1/2}} \frac{h^{4}x^{4}}{(1-(1-h^{2})x^{2})^{\frac{5}{2}}} dx \\ &+ 3\int_{1-h^{2}}^{1} \frac{1}{(1-x^{2})^{1/2}} \frac{h^{4}x^{4}}{(1-(1-h^{2})x^{2})^{\frac{5}{2}}} dx \\ &=: I + II \end{aligned}$$

and estimate I and II exactly as we did for -hT'(h).

*Remark 4.4.* The expression for T(h) in (4.1) is in fact a complete elliptic integral of the first kind. Its asymptotics are well-known [1, Ch. 17]: as  $h \to 0^+$  we have

$$T(h) \sim 4\ln(4/h) + O(h), \quad T'(h) \sim -\frac{4}{h} + O(1) \quad T''(h) \sim \frac{4}{h^2} + O(1/h),$$

while as  $h \to 1^-$  it holds

$$T(h) \sim 2\pi + O(h-1),$$
  $T'(h) \sim -\pi + O(h-1)$   $T''(h) \sim \frac{5\pi}{4} + O(h-1).$ 

However, all we need are the global bounds contained in Lemma 4.3.

# 4.2. Reparametrization of the Hamiltionian and Regularity of the Change of Variables

We consider the coordinates

$$\tilde{\Phi}: \mathbb{S}^1 \times \left(0, \frac{\pi}{2}\right) \to (0, \pi)^2 \setminus \left\{ \left(\frac{\pi}{2}, \frac{\pi}{2}\right) \right\}, \quad \tilde{\Phi}(\theta, I) := X\left(\theta \tilde{T}(I), \left(\frac{\pi}{2}, I\right)\right)$$
(4.5)

where  $\tilde{T}(I)$  is the period of the closed orbit in  $\{H_c = \sin I\}$  passing through the point  $(\pi/2, I)$ . These coordinates are related to the action-angle coordinates introduced in Sect. 2.2 by

$$\tilde{\Phi}(\theta, I) = \Phi(\theta, \sin I), \quad \tilde{T}(I) = T(\sin I).$$
(4.6)

**Lemma 4.5.** The map  $\tilde{\Phi} : \mathbb{S}^1 \times (0, \frac{\pi}{2}) \to (0, \pi)^2 \setminus \{(\pi/2, \pi/2)\}$  and its inverse are  $C^1$ . Moreover the following estimates hold:

$$|\partial_{\theta} \tilde{\Phi}(\theta, I)| \lesssim |\ln I| \left(\frac{\pi}{2} - I\right), \quad |\partial_I \tilde{\Phi}(\theta, I)| \lesssim I^{-1}.$$

*Proof.* The  $C^1$ -regularity of  $\tilde{\Phi}$  and its inverse follows from (4.6) and the same properties proved for  $\Phi$  in Lemma 2.4. The first inequality follows from Lemma 4.3:

$$|\partial_{\theta}\tilde{\Phi}(\theta,I)| \le |\tilde{T}(I)||b_{\mathsf{c}}|(\tilde{\Phi}(\theta,I)) \lesssim |\ln I|\left(\frac{\pi}{2}-I\right)|$$

Let us prove the second inequality: for every  $\alpha \in \mathbb{S}^1$  and  $I \in (0, \frac{\pi}{2})$ , let  $P(\alpha, I) \in \tilde{\Phi}(\mathbb{S}^1, I)$  and  $g(\alpha, I) > 0$  be such that

$$P(\alpha, I) = \left(\frac{\pi}{2}, \frac{\pi}{2}\right) + g(\alpha, I)e^{i(3\pi/2 - \alpha)}.$$
(4.7)

Take now  $\alpha : \mathbb{S}^1 \times (0, \pi/2) \to \mathbb{S}^1$  such that

$$e^{i(3\pi/2 - \alpha(\theta, I))} = \frac{\tilde{\Phi}(\theta, I) - (\pi/2, \pi/2)}{\left|\tilde{\Phi}(\theta, I) - (\pi/2, \pi/2)\right|}.$$

In particular we have

$$\tilde{\Phi}(\theta, I) = \left(\frac{\pi}{2}, \frac{\pi}{2}\right) + g(\alpha(\theta, I), I)e^{i(3\pi/2 - \alpha(\theta, I))},$$

therefore

$$\begin{aligned} |\partial_I \Phi(\theta, I)| &\leq |\partial_\alpha g(\alpha(\theta, I), I)| |\partial_I \alpha(\theta, I)| \\ + |\partial_I g(\alpha(\theta, I), I)| + |g(\alpha(\theta, I), I)| |\partial_I \alpha(\theta, I)|. \end{aligned}$$
(4.8)

We observe that  $g(\alpha, I) \sim (\pi/2 - I)$ . Moreover it holds

$$|\partial_I g(\alpha, I)| \lesssim 1,$$
 as  $I \to \frac{\pi}{2}^-,$   
 $|\partial_I g(\alpha, I)| \lesssim \frac{1}{|b_{\mathsf{c}} \circ P|} \lesssim \frac{1}{\sqrt{I}},$  as  $I \to 0^+.$ 

Differentiating (4.7) and observing that  $g(\alpha, I), |\partial_{\alpha}P| \sim (\pi/2 - I)$  we obtain  $|\partial_{\alpha}g| \leq (\frac{\pi}{2} - I)$ . Therefore it follows by (4.8) that

$$|\partial_I \tilde{\Phi}(\theta, I)| \lesssim \left(\frac{\pi}{2} - I\right) |\partial_I \alpha(\theta, I)| + \frac{1}{\sqrt{I}}.$$
(4.9)

In remains to estimate  $\partial_I \alpha$ : we consider the angular velocity with respect to the center  $(\pi/2, \pi/2)$ :

$$\omega: \mathbb{S}^1 \times \left(0, \frac{\pi}{2}\right) \to \mathbb{R}, \qquad \omega(\alpha, I) = \frac{b_{\mathsf{c}}(P(\alpha, I)) e^{i(2\pi - \alpha)}}{g(\alpha, I)}.$$

By construction it holds

$$\int_0^{\alpha(\theta,I)} \frac{1}{\omega(\alpha,I)} d\alpha = \theta \tilde{T}(I).$$

Differentiating the expression above with respect to I we get

$$\partial_{I}\alpha(\theta, I) = \omega(\alpha(\theta, I), I) \left[ \theta \tilde{T}'(I) + \int_{0}^{\alpha(\theta, I)} \frac{\partial_{I}\omega(\alpha, I)}{\omega(\alpha, I)^{2}} d\alpha \right].$$
(4.10)

Since  $g(\alpha, I) \sim (\frac{\pi}{2} - I)$  and  $b_{c}(P(\alpha, I)) e^{i(2\pi-\alpha)} \geq \sqrt{2}/2$ , then  $\omega(\alpha, I) \sim \frac{|b_{c} \circ P|}{g(\alpha, I)} \lesssim 1$ . By Lemma 4.3 we have  $\tilde{T}'(I) \lesssim I^{-1}(\frac{\pi}{2} - I)$ . In order to estimate the integral, we distinguish two regimes:  $I \to 0^{+}$  and  $I \to \frac{\pi}{2}^{-}$ , and rely on the estimate

$$|\partial_I \omega| \leq \frac{|\partial_I (b_{\mathsf{c}} \circ P)|}{g} + \frac{|b_{\mathsf{c}} \circ P| |\partial_I g|}{g^2}.$$

For  $I \to \frac{\pi}{2}^-$  we have  $g(\alpha, I) \sim (\frac{\pi}{2} - I)$  and  $(\frac{\pi}{2} - I)^{-1} |b_{c} \circ P| + |\partial_{I}(b_{c} \circ P)| + |\partial_{I}g| \lesssim 1$ , therefore

$$|\partial_I \omega| \lesssim \left(\frac{\pi}{2} - I\right)^{-1}$$
 as  $I \to \frac{\pi}{2}^{-1}$ .

In particular we get

$$|\partial_I \alpha(\theta, I)| \lesssim \left(\frac{\pi}{2} - I\right)^{-1}$$
 as  $I \to \frac{\pi}{2}^{-1}$ .

We now estimate the integral term in (4.10) as  $I \to 0^+$ : by the symmetries of the cellular flow we have that for every  $\theta \in \mathbb{S}^1$  it holds

$$\int_{0}^{\alpha(\theta,I)} \frac{\partial_{I}\omega(\alpha,I)}{\omega(\alpha,I)^{2}} d\alpha \leq \int_{0}^{2\pi} \left| \frac{\partial_{I}\omega(\alpha,I)}{\omega(\alpha,I)^{2}} \right| d\alpha = 8 \int_{0}^{\frac{\pi}{4}} \left| \frac{\partial_{I}\omega(\alpha,I)}{\omega(\alpha,I)^{2}} \right| d\alpha$$

If  $\alpha$ ,  $I \in (0, \pi/4)$ , then, denoting by  $P_1$  the first component of the vector P, we have

$$\begin{aligned} |b_{\mathsf{c}} \circ P| &\sim P_{1}(\alpha, I), \qquad |\partial_{I}(b_{\mathsf{c}} \circ P)| \sim \frac{|(D_{x}b_{\mathsf{c}}) \circ P|}{|b_{\mathsf{c}} \circ P|} \\ &\lesssim \frac{1}{|b_{\mathsf{c}} \circ P|}, \qquad |\partial_{I}g| \lesssim \frac{1}{|b_{\mathsf{c}} \circ P|}, \qquad g \sim 1, \end{aligned}$$

therefore  $|\partial_I \omega(\alpha, I)| \lesssim \frac{1}{P_1(\alpha, I)}$  and  $|\omega(\alpha, I)| \sim P_1(\alpha, I)$ . We observe that for every  $I \in (0, \pi/4)$  the map  $\alpha \mapsto P_1(\alpha, I)$  is bi-Lipschitz from  $(0, \pi/4)$  to its image with constants independent of I.

Eventually we can estimate

$$\left|\int_0^{\alpha(\theta,I)} \frac{\partial_I \omega(\alpha,I)}{\omega(\alpha,I)^2} \mathrm{d}\alpha\right| \lesssim \left|\int_{P_1(\frac{\pi}{4},I)}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} \frac{1}{x_1^3} \mathrm{d}x_1\right| \lesssim I^{-1} \quad \text{as } I \to 0^+,$$

where in the last inequality we used that  $P_1\left(\frac{\pi}{4}, I\right) \sim \sqrt{I}$ , since  $\sin^2\left(P_1\left(\frac{\pi}{4}, I\right)\right) = \sin I$ . Combining the estimates in the two regimes we get

$$|\partial_I \alpha(\theta, I)| \lesssim \left(\frac{\pi}{2} - I\right)^{-1} I^{-1},$$

therefore we conclude by (4.9) that

$$|\partial_I \tilde{\Phi}(\theta, I)| \lesssim I^{-1},$$

finishing the proof.

It is convenient to state also the estimates relative to the action-angle coordinates in Sect. 2.2: recalling (4.6), it immediately follows from Lemma 4.5 that

$$|\partial_{\theta}\Phi| \lesssim \ln\left(1+\frac{1}{h}\right)\sqrt{1-h}, \qquad |\partial_{h}\Phi| \lesssim \frac{1}{h\sqrt{1-h}}.$$
 (4.11)

# 4.3. Polynomial Bound for the Gradient of the Flow

In this section, we prove an algebraic upper bound for the  $W^{1,1}$  norm of the Lagrangian flow X(t, x). Despite the existence of a hyperbolic point, which causes exponential stretching/compression of particle trajectories, the result below asserts that, on average, the gradient growth is at most quadratic.

**Proposition 4.6.** Denote by X the flow associated to  $b_c$ , then there is an absolute constant C > 0 such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^2} |D_x X(t, x)| \mathrm{d}x \le C(1+t^2).$$
(4.12)

We expect the sharp estimate to be linear rather than quadratic, up to possible logarithmic corrections. Moreover, we believe that this property is true for more general Hamiltonians with non-degenerate hyperbolic points, although (4.12) can be saturated in degenerate cases. We will investigate these properties further in a subsequent work.

An immediate consequence of Proposition 4.6 and the interpolation inequality

$$\|f\|_{L^{4/3}}^2 \lesssim \|\nabla f\|_{L^1} \|f\|_{\dot{H}^{-1}},$$

is that no datum can mix faster than  $1/t^2$ , even if its support contains the hyperbolic points.

*Proof of Proposition 4.6.* We reduce to the domain  $(0, \pi)^2$ . Recalling the definition of action-angle coordinates in Sect. 2.2 we have

$$X(t, x) = \Phi(\Psi(X(t, x)), H_{\mathsf{C}}(X(t, x))).$$

Since  $H_{c}(X(t, x)) = H_{c}(x)$ , we deduce by Lemma 2.4 that

$$X(t, x) = \Phi\left(\Psi(x) + \frac{t}{T(H_{\mathsf{C}}(x))}, H_{\mathsf{C}}(x)\right).$$

Differentiating with respect to x and recalling  $b_{c} = \nabla^{\perp} H_{c}$  we obtain

$$|D_{x}X(t,x)| \le |\partial_{\theta}\Phi| \left( |D\Psi| + \frac{t}{T^{2}(H_{\mathsf{C}}(x))} |T'(H_{\mathsf{C}}(x))| |b(x)| \right) + |\partial_{h}\Phi| |b(x)|$$
(4.13)

In order to estimate  $|D\Psi|$ , we repeat the computations in (2.8), taking into account the sharper estimates (4.11) for  $|D\Phi|$ , and using  $T(h) \sim 1 + \ln(1/h)$ : we have

$$|D\Psi| \le |D\Phi^{-1}| \le \frac{|D\Phi|}{|\det D\Phi|} \lesssim \frac{1}{h\sqrt{1-h}(1+\ln(1/h))}.$$

Plugging this estimate in (4.13), we obtain

$$|DX(t,x)| \lesssim (1 + \ln(1/h))\sqrt{1-h}$$

$$\begin{split} & \left(\frac{1}{h\sqrt{1-h}(1+\ln(1/h))} + \frac{t}{h(1+\ln(1/h))^2}|b(x)|\right) + \frac{1}{h\sqrt{1-h}}|b(x)| \\ & = \frac{1}{h} + \frac{\sqrt{1-h}}{h(1+\ln(1/h))}|b(x)|t + \frac{1}{h\sqrt{1-h}}|b(x)|, \end{split}$$

where  $h = H_{c}(x)$ . We also have the trivial bound  $|D_{x}X(t, x)| \le e^{Lt}$ , with  $L = |Db_{c}|_{L^{\infty}}$ . Given  $\bar{h} \in (0, 1)$  and using the co-area formula we get

$$\int_{(0,\pi)^2} |D_x X(t,x)| dx = \int_{\{H_{\mathsf{C}} \le \tilde{h}\}} |D_x X(t,x)| dx + \int_{\tilde{h}}^1 \int_{\{H_{\mathsf{C}} = h\}} \frac{|D_x X(t,x)|}{|b(x)|} d\mathscr{H}^1(x) dh$$
  
$$\lesssim e^{Lt} |\{H_{\mathsf{C}} \le \tilde{h}\}| + \int_{\tilde{h}}^1 \frac{1}{h} \int_{\{H_{\mathsf{C}} = h\}} \frac{1}{|b(x)|} d\mathscr{H}^1(x) dh$$
  
$$+ \int_{\tilde{h}}^1 \left(\frac{\sqrt{1-h}}{h(1+\ln(1/h))}t + \frac{1}{h\sqrt{1-h}}\right) \mathscr{H}^1(\{H_{\mathsf{C}} = h\}) dh. \quad (4.14)$$

It is straightforward to check that

$$\left| \{ H_{\mathsf{C}} \leq \bar{h} \} \right| \lesssim \bar{h} \ln(1/\bar{h}), \qquad \mathscr{H}^1(\{ H_{\mathsf{C}} = h\}) \sim \sqrt{1-h}.$$

Moreover by Lemma 4.3 we have

$$\int_{\{H_{c}=h\}} \frac{1}{|b(x)|} d\mathcal{H}^{1}(x) = T(h) \lesssim 1 + \ln(1/h)$$

Plugging these estimates in (4.14), we get

$$\begin{split} \int_{(0,\pi)^2} |D_x X(t,x)| \mathrm{d}x &\lesssim \mathrm{e}^{Lt} \bar{h} (1 + \ln(1/\bar{h})) + \int_{\bar{h}}^1 \left( \frac{1 + \ln(1/\bar{h})}{\bar{h}} + \frac{t}{h \ln(1/\bar{h})} \right) \mathrm{d}h \\ &\lesssim \mathrm{e}^{Lt} \bar{h} (1 + \ln(1/\bar{h})) + \ln(\bar{h})^2 + t \ln(\ln(1/\bar{h})). \end{split}$$

Choosing  $\bar{h} = e^{-Lt}$  we get the desired estimate.

#### 4.4. Global Mixing Estimate

Let  $\rho_0 \in C^1(\mathbb{T}^2)$  be mean zero along the level sets of  $H_c$ , and consider  $\rho$ :  $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{T}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$  the solution to (**T**) with  $\rho(0, \cdot) = \rho_0$ . To prove global mixing estimates, it is enough to study the flow in each invariant domain  $(0, \pi)^2$ ,  $(0, \pi) \times (-\pi, 0)$ ,  $(-\pi, 0)^2$ ,  $(-\pi, 0) \times (0, \pi)$ . More precisely, we split

$$\begin{aligned} \|\rho(t)\|_{H^{-1}(\mathbb{T}^2)} &= \sup_{\|\varphi\|_{H^1(\mathbb{T}^2) \le 1}} \int_{\mathbb{T}^2} \rho(t)\varphi dx \\ &\leq \sup_{\|\varphi\|_{H^1(\mathbb{T}^2) \le 1}} \int_{(0,\pi)^2} \rho(t)\varphi dx + \sup_{\|\varphi\|_{H^1(\mathbb{T}^2) \le 1}} \int_{(0,\pi) \times (-\pi,0)} \rho(t)\varphi dx \ (4.15) \\ &+ \sup_{\|\varphi\|_{H^1(\mathbb{T}^2) \le 1}} \int_{(-\pi,0) \times (0,\pi)} \rho(t)\varphi dx + \sup_{\|\varphi\|_{H^1(\mathbb{T}^2) \le 1}} \int_{(-\pi,0)^2} \rho(t)\varphi dx \end{aligned}$$

and estimate each term separately using the special coordinates introduced in the previous section. We illustrate in details how to estimate the mixing rate in  $(0, \pi)^2$ , the analysis of the other domains being completely analogous.

We apply the stationary phase argument for the dynamics in the coordinates  $(\theta, I)$  and the change of variables  $\tilde{\Phi}$  given in (4.5). The function  $f(t, \theta, I) :=$  $\rho(t, \tilde{\Phi}(\theta, I))$  solves the equation

$$\partial_t f + \frac{1}{\tilde{T}(I)} \partial_\theta f = 0, \text{ for } (t, \theta, I) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^1 \times \left[0, \frac{\pi}{2}\right].$$

By (2.7) and (4.6) we have

$$J_{\tilde{\Phi}}(\theta, I) = J_{\Phi}(\theta, I) \cos I = \tilde{T}(I) \cos I$$

We set  $g(I) := \tilde{T}(I) \cos I$ , and work in the weighted Sobolev space  $H_g^1$ , defined by the norm

$$\|f\|_{H^1_{g}}^2 := \int_{\mathbb{S}^1 \times \left(0, \frac{\pi}{2}\right)} \left( |f(\theta, s)|^2 + |\partial_s f(\theta, s)|^2 \right) g(s) \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}\theta.$$

Fix  $\delta, \delta' \in (0, 1)$ , by (A.4) we have

$$\sup_{\|\phi\|_{H_g^1} \le 1} \int_{\delta}^{\frac{\pi}{2} - \delta'} \int_{\mathbb{S}^1} f(t, \theta, s) \phi(\theta, s) g(s) \mathrm{d}\theta \mathrm{d}s \le \|f(0, \cdot)\|_{H_g^1} r(t)$$

with r(t) given by (A.3), i.e.

$$r(t) = \frac{1}{t} \left\| g^{-\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^{2}(\delta, \frac{\pi}{2} - \delta')}^{2} \left( \frac{\tilde{T}^{2}g}{|\tilde{T}'|}(\delta) + \frac{\tilde{T}^{2}g}{|\tilde{T}'|}(\frac{\pi}{2} - \delta') + \left\| \left( \frac{\tilde{T}^{2}g}{\tilde{T}'} \right)' \right\|_{L^{1}(\delta, \frac{\pi}{2} - \delta')} \right) + \frac{1}{t} \left\| g^{-\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^{2}(\delta, \frac{\pi}{2} - \delta')} \left\| \frac{\tilde{T}^{2}g^{\frac{1}{2}}}{\tilde{T}'} \right\|_{L^{2}(\delta, \frac{\pi}{2} - \delta')}.$$
(4.16)

By Lemma 4.3 we have

$$\tilde{T}(I) \sim 1 + |\ln I|, \quad |\tilde{T}'(I)| \sim I^{-1} \left(\frac{\pi}{2} - I\right), \quad |\tilde{T}''(I)| \sim I^{-2},$$

hence each term in (4.16) can be estimated pointwise as

$$\begin{split} \left| \left( \frac{\tilde{T}^2 g}{\tilde{T}'} \right)' \right| &= \left| \left( \frac{\tilde{T}^3 \cos I}{\tilde{T}'} \right)' \right| \lesssim \tilde{T}^2 + \frac{(1 + |\ln I|)^3 I^2}{\frac{\pi}{2} - I} + \frac{|\tilde{T}''|\tilde{T}^3 I^2}{\frac{\pi}{2} - I} \lesssim \frac{(1 + |\ln I|)^3}{\frac{\pi}{2} - I}, \\ & \left| \frac{\tilde{T}^2 g}{\tilde{T}'} \right| \lesssim (1 + |\ln I|)^3 I, \\ & \left| \frac{\tilde{T}^2 g^{1/2}}{\tilde{T}'} \right| \lesssim \frac{(1 + |\ln I|)^{5/2} I}{\left(\frac{\pi}{2} - I\right)^{1/2}}. \end{split}$$

Plugging these estimates in (A.3), we get

$$r(t) \lesssim \left|\ln \delta'\right|^2 \frac{1}{t} \,. \tag{4.17}$$

Let  $\Omega \subset (0, \pi)^2$  be an open set such that  $\operatorname{spt}(\rho(t)) \cap (0, \pi)^2 \subset \Omega$  for every  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . Denoting by  $\mathcal{L}^2$  the Lebesgue measure on  $(0, \pi)^2$ , we estimate

$$\begin{split} \sup_{\|\varphi\|_{H^{1}} \leq 1} \int_{(0,\pi)^{2}} \rho(t)\varphi dx \\ &= \sup_{\|\varphi\|_{H^{1}} \leq 1} \left( \int_{\tilde{\Phi}(\mathbb{S}^{1} \times (0,\delta))} \rho(t)\varphi dx + \int_{\tilde{\Phi}(\mathbb{S}^{1} \times (\delta,\frac{\pi}{2} - \delta'))} \rho(t)\varphi dx + \int_{\tilde{\Phi}(\mathbb{S}^{1} \times (\frac{\pi}{2} - \delta',\frac{\pi}{2}))} \rho(t)\varphi dx \right) \\ &\lesssim C(\varepsilon) \|\rho_{0}\|_{L^{\infty}} \left[ \mathcal{L}^{2} \left( \left( \tilde{\Phi}(\mathbb{S}^{1} \times (0,\delta)) \cup \tilde{\Phi}\left( \mathbb{S}^{1} \times \left(\frac{\pi}{2} - \delta',\frac{\pi}{2}\right) \right) \right) \cap \Omega \right) \right]^{1-\varepsilon} \\ &+ \sup_{\|\varphi\|_{H^{1}} \leq 1} \int_{\tilde{\Phi}(\mathbb{S}^{1} \times (\delta,\frac{\pi}{2} - \delta'))} \rho(t)\varphi dx, \end{split}$$

where we used the a priori estimate  $\|\rho(t)\|_{L^{\infty}} \le \|\rho_0\|_{L^{\infty}}$  and the two-dimensional Sobolev embedding  $\|\varphi\|_{L^p} \le C(p)\|\varphi\|_{H^1} \le C(p)$  for any  $p < \infty$ . Performing the computations in Section A.1, we deduce from (4.17) and Lemma 4.5 that

$$\sup_{\|\varphi\|_{H^{1}} \leq 1} \int_{\tilde{\Phi}(\mathbb{S}^{1} \times (\delta, \frac{\pi}{2} - \delta'))} \rho(t)\varphi \mathrm{d}x \lesssim \frac{\|\rho_{0}\|_{H^{1}}}{t} (1 + \mathrm{Lip}\tilde{\Phi})^{2} \left|\ln \delta'\right|^{2} \lesssim \frac{\|\rho_{0}\|_{H^{1}}}{t} \delta^{-2} \left|\ln \delta'\right|^{2} + C_{0} \left|\int_{0}^{\infty} |\nabla \varphi|^{2} \mathrm{d}x \right|^{2} \leq C_{0} \left|\int_{0}^{\infty} |\nabla$$

Let  $\kappa < 1/5$  be a small parameter. We claim that for every  $\varepsilon > 0$  we have the following:

(1) If  $\operatorname{spt}(\rho_0) \cap (0, \pi)^2 \subset \mathbb{S}^1 \times (\kappa, \pi - \kappa)$ , then

$$\sup_{\|\varphi\|_{H^{1}} \le 1} \int_{(0,\pi)^{2}} \rho(t)\varphi dx \le C(\varepsilon,\kappa,\|\rho_{0}\|_{H^{1}},\|\rho_{0}\|_{L^{\infty}}) \frac{1}{t^{1-\varepsilon}}.$$
 (4.18)

(2) If  $\operatorname{spt}(\rho_0) \cap (0, \pi)^2 \subset \mathbb{S}^1 \times (0, \pi)^2 \setminus B_{\kappa}((\pi/2, \pi/2))$ , then

$$\sup_{\|\varphi\|_{H^{1}} \le 1} \int_{(0,\pi)^{2}} \rho(t)\varphi dx \le C(\varepsilon,\kappa,\|\rho_{0}\|_{H^{1}},\|\rho_{0}\|_{L^{\infty}}) \frac{1}{t^{\frac{1}{3}-\varepsilon}}.$$
 (4.19)

To prove (1), we set  $\Omega := \mathbb{S}^1 \times (\kappa', \pi - \kappa')$  for some  $0 < \kappa' < \kappa$  in such a way that it contains  $\operatorname{spt}(\rho(t)) \cap (0, \pi)^2$  for any  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . Hence, there exists  $\delta(\kappa) < 1/5$ , depending only on  $\kappa$ , such that  $\tilde{\Phi}(\mathbb{S}^1 \times (0, \delta(\kappa))) \cap \Omega = \emptyset$ . The analysis above with  $\delta = \delta(\kappa)$  gives

$$\sup_{\|\varphi\|_{H^1} \le 1} \int_{(0,\pi)^2} \rho(t) \varphi \mathrm{d}x \lesssim C(\varepsilon) \|\rho_0\|_{L^{\infty}} (\delta')^{2-2\varepsilon} + C(\kappa) \|\rho_0\|_{H^1} |\ln \delta'|^2 \frac{1}{t} \,,$$

where we used that

$$\mathcal{L}^2\left(\tilde{\Phi}\left(\mathbb{S}^1\times\left(\frac{\pi}{2}-\delta',\frac{\pi}{2}\right)\right)\right)\lesssim (\delta')^2\,.$$

The sought conclusion follows by optimizing  $\delta'$ .

To prove (2) we argue analogously. The right domain to consider is

$$\Omega := (0, \pi)^2 \subset (0, \pi)^2 \setminus B_{2\kappa}((\pi/2, \pi/2)),$$

and we use the volume estimate

$$\mathcal{L}^2\left(\tilde{\Phi}(\mathbb{S}^1\times(0,\delta))\right)\lesssim\delta(1+|\ln\delta|)\,.$$

*Proof of Theorem 3.* Let  $\rho_0 \in C^1(\mathbb{T}^2)$  be mean zero along the level sets of  $H_c$ , and consider  $\rho : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{T}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$  the solution to (T) with  $\rho(0, \cdot) = \rho_0$ . The lower bound on the mixing rate in (1.4) and the upper bound on the enhanced dissipation rate in (1.5) are a consequence of Theorem 2. We then prove the upper bound on the mixing rate in (1.4).

Let  $\chi$  be a smooth function, constant along the levels of  $H_c$  such that  $\chi = 1$  in  $B_{\frac{1}{100}}((\pi/2, \pi/2))$  and  $\chi = 0$  in the complement of  $B_{\frac{1}{10}}((\pi/2, \pi/2))$ . It turns out that  $\chi \rho(t)$  and  $(1 - \chi)\rho(t)$  both solve (T). Hence, we can apply (4.18) and (4.19) to get

$$\begin{split} \sup_{\|\varphi\|_{H^{1}} \le 1} \int_{(0,\pi)^{2}} \rho(t)\varphi dx &\leq \sup_{\|\varphi\|_{H^{1}} \le 1} \int_{(0,\pi)^{2}} \chi \rho(t)\varphi dx + \sup_{\|\varphi\|_{H^{1}} \le 1} \int_{(0,\pi)^{2}} (1-\chi)\rho(t)\varphi dx \\ &\leq C(\varepsilon,\kappa, \|\chi \rho_{0}\|_{H^{1}}, \|\chi \rho_{0}\|_{L^{\infty}}) \frac{1}{t^{1-\varepsilon}} \\ &+ C(\varepsilon,\kappa, \|(1-\chi)\rho_{0}\|_{H^{1}}, \|(1-\chi)\rho_{0}\|_{L^{\infty}}) \frac{1}{t^{\frac{1}{3}-\varepsilon}} \\ &\leq C(\varepsilon,\kappa, \|\rho_{0}\|_{H^{1}}, \|\rho_{0}\|_{L^{\infty}}) \frac{1}{t^{\frac{1}{3}-\varepsilon}} \,. \end{split}$$

To estimate  $\|\rho(t)\|_{H^{-1}(\mathbb{T}^2)}$  we use the decomposition (4.15), and sum all the contributions. This concludes the proof.

#### 4.5. Towards Enhanced Dissipation

Given the upper bound on the mixing rate (1.4), we can obtain a partial enhanced dissipation result for the standard cellular flow (Theorem 4), by adapting the strategy of [13, Theorem 2.1]. Define the average on the streamlines of a function  $g \in L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)$  as

$$P_0g(x) = \int_{\Gamma(x)} g \, \mathrm{d}\mathcal{H}^1,$$

where  $\Gamma(x)$  is the connected component of  $\{H_c = H_c(x)\}$  containing x, and  $P_{\perp} = 1 - P_0$ . Clearly,  $P_0$  and  $P_{\perp}$  are orthogonal projections in  $L^2$ . Moreover,  $P_0b \cdot \nabla = 0$  and  $P_{\perp}$  commutes with  $b \cdot \nabla$ . However, they are not in general well-behaved with the Laplace operator, so that [13, Theorem 2.1] cannot be applied directly. The mixing estimate (1.4) can be phrased as

$$\|P_{\perp}\rho(t)\|_{H^{-1}} \le \frac{a}{rac{1}{2}t}\|\rho_0\|_{H^1}, \quad \forall t \ge 0, \quad \forall \rho_0 \in H^1, \quad P_0\rho_0 = 0,$$

for some constant  $a \ge 1$  and  $p = 1/3^-$ . We will restrict ourselves to initial data supported in one of the cells. We need the following preliminary result.

**Lemma 4.7.** Let  $\epsilon \in (0, 1)$ , and consider  $\eta_{\epsilon} = \eta_{\epsilon}(h) : [0, 1] \rightarrow [0, 1]$  a smooth, increasing cut-off such that  $\eta_{\epsilon} \equiv 1$  on  $\{H_{c} \geq \epsilon\}$  and  $\eta_{\epsilon} \equiv 0$  on  $\{H_{c} \leq \epsilon/2\}$ . Then there exists a constant C = C(H) > 0 such that

$$\|P_0g(\eta_{\epsilon})\|_{H^1}^2 + \|P_{\perp}(g\eta_{\epsilon})\|_{H^1}^2 \le C\epsilon^{-1}\|(g\eta_{\epsilon})\|_{H^1}^2 \le C\epsilon^{-3}\|g\|_{H^1}^2, \quad (4.20)$$

for any  $g \in H^1$ .

*Proof.* It is enough to prove the estimate for  $P_0(g\eta_{\epsilon})$ . By the coarea formula it is easy to check that

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}h} \int_{\{H_{\mathsf{c}}=h\}} g \,\mathrm{d}\mathscr{H}^{1} = \int_{\{H_{\mathsf{c}}=h\}} \nabla \cdot \left(\frac{\nabla H_{\mathsf{c}}}{|\nabla H_{\mathsf{c}}|} g\right) |\nabla H_{\mathsf{c}}| \,\mathrm{d}\mathscr{H}^{1},$$

for every smooth function g supported away from the critical points of  $H_c$ . Fix  $h \in \mathbb{R}$ . It immediately follows that

$$\begin{aligned} |\nabla P_0 g(x)| &\lesssim |\nabla H_{\mathsf{c}}(x)| \left( P_0 \left( \frac{|g|}{|\nabla H_{\mathsf{c}}|} \right)(x) + P_0 \left( \frac{1}{|\nabla H_{\mathsf{c}}|} \right)(x) P_0(|g|)(x) \right) + P_0(|\nabla g|)(x) \\ &\lesssim C(h) P_0(|g| + |\nabla g|)(x) \end{aligned}$$

for every  $x \in \{H_{c} = h\}$ , where

$$C(h) := \frac{\sup_{H_{\mathsf{c}}=h} |\nabla H|}{\inf_{H_{\mathsf{c}}=h} |\nabla H|}.$$

Notice that  $C(h) \leq \epsilon^{-1/2}$  for every  $x \in \{H_{c} \geq \epsilon\}$ . In particular, it holds

$$\|\nabla P_0(g\eta_{\epsilon})\|_{L^2} \lesssim \epsilon^{-1/2} (\|g\eta_{\epsilon}\|_{L^2} + \|\nabla(g\eta_{\epsilon})\|_{L^2}) \lesssim \epsilon^{-1/2} \|\nabla(g\eta_{\epsilon})\|_{L^2}.$$

The second inequality in (4.20) follows by standard properties of cut-off functions, and hence the proof is over.

In order to prove Theorem 4, we need to estimate the difference between solutions of (A-D) and (T) with the same initial datum. We consider  $\tau_0 > 0$  and  $\rho$ ,  $\rho^{\nu}$  be the solutions of

$$\partial_t \rho + b_{\mathsf{C}} \cdot \nabla \rho = 0, \qquad \partial_t \rho^{\nu} + b_{\mathsf{C}} \cdot \nabla \rho^{\nu} = \nu \Delta \rho^{\nu}$$

with  $\rho(\tau_0) = \rho^{\nu}(\tau_0) = \rho^{\tau_0} \in H^1$ .

We have the following energy inequalities:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|\rho^{\nu}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + 2\nu \|\nabla\rho^{\nu}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} = 0$$

and

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|\nabla \rho^{\nu}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + 2\nu \|\Delta \rho^{\nu}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \le 2\|\nabla \rho^{\nu}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}.$$
(4.21)

Integrating (4.21) in time we obtain a bound on the integral of the  $H^2$  norm as

$$2\nu \int_{\tau_0}^{\tau_0+t} \|\Delta\rho^{\nu}(s)\|_{L^2}^2 \mathrm{d}s \le 2 \int_{\tau_0}^{\tau_0+t} \|\nabla\rho^{\nu}(s)\|_{L^2}^2 \mathrm{d}s + \|\nabla\rho^{\nu}(\tau_0)\|_{L^2}^2.$$
(4.22)

Since

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \| \rho^{\nu} - \rho \|_{L^{2}}^{2} = 2\nu \langle \Delta \rho^{\nu}, \rho^{\nu} - \rho \rangle_{L^{2}} \le 2\nu \| \Delta \rho^{\nu} \|_{L^{2}} \| \rho^{\nu} - \rho \|_{L^{2}},$$

we deduce  $\frac{d}{dt} \| \rho^{\nu} - \rho \|_{L^2} \le \nu \| \Delta \rho^{\nu} \|_{L^2}$ : integrating in time and recalling  $\rho(\tau_0) = \rho^{\nu}(\tau_0)$  and (4.22) we get

$$\begin{aligned} \|(\rho^{\nu} - \rho)(\tau_{0} + t)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} &\leq \left(\nu \int_{\tau_{0}}^{\tau_{0} + t} \|\Delta \rho^{\nu}(s)\|_{L^{2}} \mathrm{d}s\right)^{2} \\ &\leq \nu t \int_{\tau_{0}}^{\tau_{0} + t} \nu \|\Delta \rho^{\nu}(s)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \mathrm{d}s \\ &\leq \nu t \left(\int_{\tau_{0}}^{\tau_{0} + t} \|\nabla \rho^{\nu}(s)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \mathrm{d}s + \frac{\|\nabla \rho^{\nu}(\tau_{0})\|_{L^{2}}^{2}}{2}\right). \end{aligned}$$
(4.23)

We are now in position to prove Theorem 4.

*Proof of Theorem 4.* For  $q \in (\frac{24}{25}, 1)$ , we have to show that for all  $\nu < \nu_0$  to be determined, we have the inequality

$$2\nu \int_0^{\nu^{-q}} \|\rho^{\nu}(t)\|_{H^1}^2 \mathrm{d}t \ge \delta \|\rho_0\|_{L^2}^2, \quad \text{with } \delta = \frac{1}{8}.$$

Without loss of generality, we can assume by linearity that  $\|\rho_0\|_{L^2} = 1$ . Towards a contradiction, we assume that

$$2\nu \int_0^{\nu^{-q}} \|\rho^{\nu}(t)\|_{H^1}^2 \mathrm{d}t < \delta.$$
(4.24)

Following the proof in [13, Theorem 2.1], there exists a  $\tau_1 \in [0, \nu^{-q} - \nu^{-q/2}]$  so that

$$\nu \int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_1 + \nu^{-q/2}} \|\rho^{\nu}(s)\|_{H^1}^2 ds < \delta \nu^{q/2}.$$
(4.25)

We can also find  $\tau_0 \in [\tau_1, \tau_1 + \nu^{-q/2}/2]$  such that

$$\nu \| \rho^{\nu}(\tau_0) \|_{H^1}^2 < 2\delta \nu^q.$$
(4.26)

Moreover,

$$\nu \int_{\tau_0}^{\tau_0 + \nu^{-q/2}/2} \|\rho^{\nu}(s)\|_{H^1}^2 \mathrm{d}s < \delta \nu^{q/2}, \tag{4.27}$$

by (4.25). Now we take  $\rho^{\tau_0} = \rho^{\nu}(\tau_0)$  as the initial datum for the inviscid problem (T) with initial time  $\tau_0$  and denote the solution by  $\rho(t + \tau_0)$  with  $t \ge 0$ . Using that  $\|\rho^{\nu}(\tau_0)\|_{L^2} \le 1$ , estimate (4.23), the properties of  $\tau_0$  in (4.26), (4.27), we find

$$\|\rho^{\nu}(\tau_{0}+t) - \rho(\tau_{0}+t)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \leq \nu t \left(\int_{\tau_{0}}^{\tau_{0}+t} \|\nabla\rho^{\nu}(s)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} ds + \frac{\|\nabla\rho^{\nu}(\tau_{0})\|_{L^{2}}^{2}}{2}\right)$$
$$\leq \frac{\delta}{2} \left(1 + \nu^{q/2}\right), \tag{4.28}$$

for all  $t \in [0, \frac{1}{2}\nu^{-q/2}]$ .

We now estimate  $P_0 \rho^{\nu}$ : since  $P_0 \rho_0 = 0$  and

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|P_0 \rho^{\nu}\|_{L^2}^2 = 2\nu \langle P_0 \rho^{\nu}, P_0 \Delta \rho^{\nu} \rangle \le 2\nu \left| \langle \rho^{\nu}, \Delta \rho^{\nu} \rangle \right| \le 2\nu \|\rho^{\nu}\|_{H^1}^2,$$

after an integration in time we deduce by (4.24) that

$$\|P_0\rho^{\nu}(t)\|_{L^2}^2 \le \delta \quad \forall t \in [0, \nu^{-q}].$$

Consider a cutoff  $\eta_{\epsilon}$  as in Lemma 4.7 and set  $\phi_{\epsilon}^2 = 1 - \eta_{\epsilon}^2$ , where  $\epsilon > 0$  will be chosen later. Notice that, by construction,  $P_0$ ,  $P_{\perp}$  commute with the multiplication by  $\eta_{\epsilon}$ ,  $\phi_{\epsilon}$ . For R > 0, denote by  $P_{\leq R}$  the projection onto the span of the Fourier modes  $\{e^{in \cdot x}\}$  with  $|n|^2 \leq R$ . Since  $P_{\perp}$  and the multiplication by  $\eta_{\epsilon}$  commute with the transport operator, the inviscid mixing estimate (4.29), implies that

$$\|P_{\leq R}P_{\perp}\eta_{\epsilon}\rho(\tau_{0}+t)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \leq \frac{a^{2}R}{\mathrm{t}t\rangle^{2p}}\|P_{\perp}\eta_{\epsilon}\rho^{\nu}(\tau_{0})\|_{H^{1}}^{2}, \quad \forall t \geq 0.$$

$$(4.29)$$

In particular, by (4.26) and Lemma 4.7, we deduce that for every  $t \in \left[\frac{\nu^{-q/2}}{4}, \frac{\nu^{-q/2}}{2}\right]$ , it holds

$$\|P_{\leq R}P_{\perp}\eta_{\epsilon}\rho(\tau_{0}+t)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \leq 2C\frac{a^{2}R}{\epsilon^{3}tt\rangle^{2p}}\delta\nu^{q-1} \leq 2\cdot4^{2p}Ca^{2}R\epsilon^{-3}\delta\nu^{q(p+1)-1}$$

It follows that

$$\begin{split} \|P_{>R}P_{\perp}\eta_{\epsilon}\rho(\tau_{0}+t)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \\ &= \|P_{\perp}\eta_{\epsilon}\rho(\tau_{0}+t)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} - \|P_{\leq R}P_{\perp}\eta_{\epsilon}\rho(\tau_{0}+t)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \\ &= \|\eta_{\epsilon}\rho^{\nu}(\tau_{0})\|_{L^{2}}^{2} - \|P_{0}\eta_{\epsilon}\rho^{\nu}(\tau_{0})\|_{L^{2}}^{2} - \|P_{\leq R}P_{\perp}\eta_{\epsilon}\rho(\tau_{0}+t)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \\ &\geq \|\eta_{\epsilon}\rho^{\nu}(\tau_{0})\|_{L^{2}}^{2} - \delta - 2 \cdot 4^{2p}Ca^{2}R\epsilon^{-3}\delta\nu^{q(p+1)-1} \end{split}$$

By (4.28), and recalling  $\|\rho^{\nu}(\tau_0)\|_{L^2} \leq 1$ , we obtain the following estimate for  $\rho^{\nu}$ :

$$\|P_{>R}P_{\perp}\eta_{\epsilon}\rho^{\nu}(\tau_{0}+t)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \geq \|P_{>R}P_{\perp}\eta_{\epsilon}\rho(\tau_{0}+t)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} - 2\|\rho^{\nu}(\tau_{0}+t) - \rho(\tau_{0}+t)\|_{L^{2}}$$
  
$$\geq \|\eta_{\epsilon}\rho^{\nu}(\tau_{0})\|_{L^{2}}^{2} - \delta - \sqrt{2\delta\left(1+\nu^{q/2}\right)} - 2\cdot4^{2p}Ca^{2}R \quad (4.30)$$

We now estimate from below  $\|\eta_{\epsilon}\rho^{\nu}(\tau_0)\|_{L^2}^2$ : given  $\bar{p} \in (2, \infty)$ , by Hölder's inequality, the embedding of  $H^1$  in  $L^{\bar{p}}$ , and since  $\operatorname{supp}(\phi_{\epsilon}) \subset \{H_{\mathsf{C}} \leq \epsilon\}$ , there is  $C_{\bar{p}} > 0$  such that

 $\|\phi_{\epsilon}\rho^{\nu}(\tau_{0})\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \leq |\{H_{\mathsf{C}} \leq \epsilon\}|^{1-\frac{2}{\tilde{p}}} \|\rho^{\nu}(\tau_{0})\|_{L^{\tilde{p}}}^{2} \leq C_{\tilde{p}}|\epsilon \log \epsilon|^{1-\frac{2}{\tilde{p}}} \|\rho^{\nu}(\tau_{0})\|_{H^{1}}^{2},$ Therefore, assuming  $\tilde{p} > 3$ ,

$$\begin{split} \|\eta_{\epsilon}\rho^{\nu}(\tau_{0})\|_{L^{2}}^{2} &\geq \|\rho^{\nu}(\tau_{0})\|_{L^{2}}^{2} - \|\phi_{\epsilon}\rho^{\nu}(\tau_{0})\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \\ &\geq 1 - \delta - C_{\bar{p}}|\epsilon\log\epsilon|^{1-\frac{2}{\bar{p}}}\|\rho^{\nu}(\tau_{0})\|_{H^{1}}^{2} \\ &\geq 1 - \delta - 2C_{\bar{p}}|\epsilon\log\epsilon|^{1-\frac{2}{\bar{p}}}\delta\nu^{q-1} \\ &\geq 1 - \delta - \tilde{C}_{\bar{p}}\epsilon^{1-\frac{3}{\bar{p}}}\delta\nu^{q-1} \end{split}$$

for some  $\tilde{C}_{\tilde{p}} > 0$ . We choose  $\epsilon = \frac{\nu^{(1-q)\left(1-\frac{3}{\tilde{p}}\right)}}{\tilde{C}_{\tilde{p}}^{1-\frac{3}{\tilde{p}}}}$  to ensure  $\|\eta_{\epsilon}\rho^{\nu}(\tau_{0})\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \ge 1-2\delta$ . Therefore, by (4.30),

$$\begin{aligned} \|P_{>R}P_{\perp}\eta_{\epsilon}\rho^{\nu}(\tau_{0}+t)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} &\geq 1-3\delta - \sqrt{2\delta}\left(1+\nu^{q/2}\right) \\ &-2\cdot 4^{2p}Ca^{2}R\epsilon^{-3}\delta\nu^{q(p+1)-1}, \end{aligned}$$

so that

$$\|P_{\perp}\eta_{\epsilon}\rho^{\nu}(\tau_{0}+t)\|_{H^{1}}^{2} \ge R\left(1-3\delta-\sqrt{2\delta\left(1+\nu^{q/2}\right)}\right) -R^{2}\left(2\cdot4^{2p}Ca^{2}\epsilon^{-3}\delta\nu^{q(p+1)-1}\right).$$
(4.31)

The choice  $\delta = \frac{1}{8}$  ensures that  $\left(1 - 3\delta - \sqrt{2\delta(1 + \nu^{q/2})}\right) > \frac{1}{16}$  for sufficiently small  $\nu$ , therefore choosing the optimal  $R = \left(1 - 3\delta - \sqrt{2\delta(1 + \nu^{q/2})}\right)$  $/4^{2p+1}Ca^2\epsilon^{-3}\delta\nu^{q(p+1)-1}$ , recalling the choice of  $\epsilon$ , and using again Lemma 4.7, we get

$$\|\rho^{\nu}(\tau_{0}+t)\|_{H^{1}}^{2} \geq \frac{\epsilon^{3}}{C} \|P_{\perp}\eta_{\epsilon}\rho^{\nu}(\tau_{0}+t)\|_{H^{1}}^{2} \geq \frac{\nu^{7-q(7+p)-6(1-q)\frac{3}{\tilde{p}}}}{4^{2p+4}\tilde{C}_{\tilde{p}}^{6\left(1-\frac{3}{\tilde{p}}\right)}C^{2}a^{2}}.$$
 (4.32)

Integrating this estimate for  $t \in \left[\frac{\nu^{-q/2}}{4}, \frac{\nu^{-q/2}}{2}\right]$  and recalling (4.27), we get

$$\frac{1}{8} = \delta > \nu^{1-\frac{q}{2}} \int_{\tau_0}^{\tau_0+\nu^{-q/2}/2} \|\rho^{\nu}(s)\|_{H^1}^2 ds > \frac{\nu^{8-q(8+p)-6(1-q)\frac{3}{\tilde{p}}}}{2\cdot 4^{2p+4}\tilde{C}_{\tilde{p}}^{6\left(1-\frac{3}{\tilde{p}}\right)} C^2 a^2},$$
(4.33)

which gives a contradiction for  $\nu$  sufficiently small provided  $8 - q(8 + p) - 6(1-q)\frac{3}{\bar{p}} < 0$ . Since we have shown the mixing estimate for the cellular flow for  $p \in (0, \frac{1}{3})$  and  $\bar{p} \ge 3$  is arbitrarily large, we deduce that the statement holds for every  $q > \frac{8}{8+\frac{1}{3}} = \frac{24}{25}$ .

*Remark 4.8.* [Data supported away from the critical point] If in Theorem 4 we consider initial data supported away from the critical point, we can improve the enhanced dissipation time-scale significantly. In the same spirit as above, we now fix  $\epsilon > 0$  so that the support of the datum is contained in the set  $\{H_c \ge \epsilon\}$ . The main observation is that such data are mixed by (T) at the faster rate  $1/t^p$  with  $p \in (0, 1)$ .

In this way, the analogue of (4.31) still holds (with  $\epsilon$  small enough independent of  $\nu$ ) and thus (4.32) now reads

$$\|\rho^{\nu}(\tau_0+t)\|_{H^1}^2 \ge \frac{1}{C}\nu^{1-q(p+1)},$$

for some constant  $C \ge 1$ . Arguing as in (4.33), the constraint simplifies to 2 - q(p+2) < 0, in analogy with [13, Theorem 2.1]. In turn, this gives q > 2/3 for the standard cellular flow.

Acknowledgements. The research of MCZ was supported by the Royal Society through a University Research Fellowship (URF\R1\191492). EM acknowledges the support received from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program under the Marie Sklodowska-Curie grant No. 101025032. EB was supported by the Giorgio and Elena Petronio Fellowship at the Institute for Advanced Study.

**Funding** Open access funding provided by Università Commerciale Luigi Bocconi within the CRUI-CARE Agreement.

**Data Availability Statement** Data sharing is not applicable to this article as no new data were created or analyzed in this study.

**Open Access** This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by/4.0/.

**Publisher's Note** Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

# Appendix A. Analytic mixing and stationary phase in action-angle variables

Let  $\Omega = \mathbb{S}^1 \times (0, \pi/2)$  and  $g \in C^1(0, \pi/2)$ . We define the weighted Sobolev space  $H_g^1$  through the norm

$$\|f\|_{H^1_g}^2 = \int_{\Omega} \left( |f(\theta, s)|^2 + |\partial_s f(\theta, s)|^2 \right) g(s) \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}\theta.$$

Via a stationary phase argument, the next theorem gives an explicit bound on the solution of a transport equation that is helpful in estimating the decay of correlation.

**Theorem 5.** Fix  $\delta$ ,  $\delta' \in (0, 1/4)$ . Let  $g, T \in C^1(0, \pi/2)$  be positive functions, and let  $f : \mathbb{R} \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$  solve

$$\partial_t f + \frac{1}{T(s)} \partial_\theta f = 0, \quad for (t, \theta, I) \in \mathbb{R} \times \Omega.$$
 (A.1)

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}^1 \times (\delta, 1-\delta')} f(t, \theta, s)\varphi(\theta, s)g(s) \,\mathrm{d}s \,\mathrm{d}\theta \le \|f(0, \cdot)\|_{H^1_g} \|\varphi\|_{H^1_g} r(t) \quad (A.2)$$

where

$$r(t) = \frac{1}{t} \left\| g^{-\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^{2}(\delta,\pi/2-\delta')}^{2} \left( \frac{T^{2}g}{|T'|}(\delta) + \frac{T^{2}g}{|T'|}(\pi/2-\delta') + \left\| \left( \frac{T^{2}g}{T'} \right)' \right\|_{L^{1}(\delta,\pi/2-\delta')} + \left\| \frac{T^{2}g^{\frac{1}{2}}}{T'} \right\|_{L^{2}(\delta,\pi/2-\delta')} \right) + \frac{1}{t} \left\| g^{-\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^{2}(\delta,\pi/2-\delta')} \left\| \frac{T^{2}g^{\frac{1}{2}}}{T'} \right\|_{L^{2}(\delta,\pi/2-\delta')}.$$
(A.3)

*Proof.* Expanding in Fourier series in the variable  $\theta$  we obtain

$$f(t,\theta,s) = \sum_{k \in 4\mathbb{Z}} f_k(t,s) e^{ik\theta}, \qquad f_k(t,s) = f_k(0,s) e^{-\frac{ikt}{T(s)}}$$

Notice that  $f_0(0, s) = 0$  for every  $s \in (0, 1)$ . We compute

$$\int_{\delta}^{\pi/2-\delta'} \int_{\mathbb{S}^1} f(t,\theta,s)\varphi(\theta,s)g(s)d\theta ds = \sum_k \int_{\delta}^{\pi/2-\delta'} f_k(t,s)\overline{\varphi_k(s)}g(s)ds$$

Integrating by parts, for every  $k \in 4\mathbb{Z}$  we have

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\delta}^{\pi/2-\delta'} f_k(t,s)\overline{\varphi_k(s)}g(s)\mathrm{d}s \\ &= \int_{\delta}^{\pi/2-\delta'} f_k(0,s)\frac{1}{ikt}\frac{T^2(s)}{T'(s)}\frac{d}{\mathrm{d}s}\left(\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{ikt}{T(s)}}\right)\overline{\varphi_k(s)}g(s)\mathrm{d}s \\ &= f_k(0,s)\frac{1}{ikt}\frac{T^2(s)}{T'(s)}\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{ikt}{T(s)}}\overline{\varphi_k(s)}g(s)\Big|_{s=\delta}^{\pi/2-\delta'} \\ &\quad -\frac{1}{ikt}\int_{\delta}^{\pi/2-\delta'}\partial_s f_k(0,s)\frac{T^2(s)}{T'(s)}\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{ikt}{T(s)}}\overline{\varphi_k(s)}g(s)\mathrm{d}s \\ &\quad -\frac{1}{ikt}\int_{\delta}^{\pi/2-\delta'} f_k(0,s)\left(\frac{T^2g}{T'}\right)'(s)\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{ikt}{T(s)}}\overline{\varphi_k(s)}g(s)\mathrm{d}s \\ &\quad -\frac{1}{ikt}\int_{\delta}^{\pi/2-\delta'} f_k(0,s)\frac{T^2(s)}{T'(s)}\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{ikt}{T(s)}}\overline{\varphi_k(s)}g(s)\mathrm{d}s . \end{split}$$

We can estimate  $||f_k(0,\cdot)||_{L^{\infty}} \le ||f_k(0,\cdot)||_{L^1} + ||\partial_s f_k(0,\cdot)||_{L^1} \le ||f_k(0,\cdot)||_{H^1_g}$  $\left\|g^{-\frac{1}{2}}\right\|_{L^2}$  and  $\|\varphi_k\|_{L^{\infty}} \le \|\varphi_k\|_{H^1_g} \left\|g^{-\frac{1}{2}}\right\|_{L^2}$  to get  $\left|\int_{\delta}^{1\pi/2-\delta'} f_k(t,s)\overline{\varphi_k(s)}g(s)ds\right| \le \frac{r(t)}{|k|} \|f_k(0,\cdot)\|_{H^1_g} \|\varphi_k\|_{H^1_g},$  with

$$\begin{split} r(t) &= \frac{1}{t} \left\| g^{-\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^2}^2 \left( \frac{T^2 g}{|T'|} (\delta) + \frac{T^2 g}{|T'|} (1 - \delta') + \left\| \left( \frac{T^2 g}{T'} \right)' \right\|_{L^1} \right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{t} \left\| g^{-\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{L^2} \left\| \frac{T^2 g^{\frac{1}{2}}}{T'} \right\|_{L^2} \,. \end{split}$$

Summing over k we get

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{S}^1 \times (\delta, \pi/2 - \delta')} f(t, \theta, s) \varphi(\theta, s) g(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \, \mathrm{d}\theta \right| \le \|f(0, \cdot)\|_{H^1_g} \|\varphi\|_{H^1_g} r(t) \,. \tag{A.4}$$

This concludes the proof.

# A.1 Change of Variables

The introduction of action-angle variables simplify the structure of a general transport equation to an equation of the form (A.1). The estimate (A.2) then provides a correlation estimate which can be understood in a negative Sobolev space with respect to the action-angle coordinates. Therefore, an estimate on the change of coordinates may be needed to understand mixing in the usual  $H^{-1}$  sense.

**Lemma A.1.** Let  $\rho = \rho(t, x)$  and  $f(t, \theta, s) = \rho(t, \Phi(\theta, s))$ , for some change of coordinate  $\Phi$ . Assume that the Jacobian  $J_{\Phi}(\theta, s) = g(s)$  for some smooth positive function g. If

$$\sup_{\|\phi\|_{H^1_g} \le 1} \int f(t,\theta,s)\phi(\theta,s)g(s)\mathrm{d}s \le \|f(0,\cdot)\|_{H^1_g} r(t)$$

for some r(t), then

$$\|\rho(t)\|_{H^{-1}} \lesssim \|\rho(0)\|_{H^1} (1 + \operatorname{Lip}(\Phi))^2 r(t).$$

Proof. The proof is a direct computation

•

$$\begin{split} \|\rho(t)\|_{H^{-1}} &= \sup_{\|\psi\|_{H^{1}} \le 1} \int \rho(t, x)\psi(x)dx \\ &= \sup_{\|\psi\|_{H^{1}} \le 1} \int f(t, \theta, s)\psi(\Phi(\theta, s))g(s)d\theta ds \\ &\le \sup_{\|\phi\|_{H^{1}_{g}} \le 1 + \operatorname{Lip}(\Phi)} \int f(t, \theta, s)\phi(\theta, s)g(s)d\theta ds \\ &\le (1 + \operatorname{Lip}(\Phi))\|f(0, \cdot)\|_{H^{1}_{g}}r(t) \\ &\le (1 + \operatorname{Lip}(\Phi))^{2}\|\rho(0, \cdot)\|_{H^{1}}r(t), \end{split}$$

as needed.

# References

- Abramowitz, M., Stegun, I. A. (ed.): Handbook of mathematical functions with formulas, graphs, and mathematical tables. Dover Publications, Inc., New York (1992). Reprint of the 1972 edition. MR1225604
- ALBRITTON, D., BEEKIE, R., NOVACK, M.: Enhanced dissipation and Hörmander's hypoellipticity. J. Funct. Anal. 283(3), 109522, 2022
- AMBROSIO, L.: Transport equation and Cauchy problem for BV vector fields. *Invent. Math.* 158(2), 227–260, 2004
- BECK, M., WAYNE, C.E.: Metastability and rapid convergence to quasi-stationary bar states for the two-dimensional Navier-Stokes equations. *Proc. R. Soc. Edinburgh Sect.* A 143(5), 905–927, 2013
- BEDROSSIAN, J., BLUMENTHAL, A., PUNSHON-SMITH, S.: Almost-sure enhanced dissipation and uniform-in-diffusivity exponential mixing for advection–diffusion by stochastic Navier–Stokes. *Probab. Theory Related Fields* 179(3–4), 777–834, 2021
- BEDROSSIAN, J., COTI ZELATI, M.: Enhanced dissipation, hypoellipticity, and anomalous small noise inviscid limits in shear flows. *Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal.* 224(3), 1161–1204, 2017
- BONICATTO, P., MARCONI, E.: Regularity estimates for the flow of BV autonomous divergence-free vector fields in R 2. *Commun. Partial Differ. Equ.* 46(12), 2235–2267, 2021
- 8. BOURGAIN, J., KOROBKOV, M., KRISTENSEN, J.: On the Morse-Sard property and level sets of Sobolev and BV functions. *Rev. Mat. Iberoam.* **29**(1), 1–23, 2013
- BRUÉ, E., NGUYEN, Q.-H.: Advection diffusion equations with Sobolev velocity field. Commun. Math. Phys. 383(1), 465–487, 2021
- 10. CHILDRESS, S., SOWARD, A.M.: Scalar transport and alpha-effect for a family of cat's-eye flows. *J. Fluid Mech.* **205**, 99–133, 1989
- 11. Colombo, M., Zelati, M.C., Widmayer, K.: Mixing and diffusion for rough shear flows. Ars Inven. Anal. 2, 22 (2021)
- 12. CONSTANTIN, P., KISELEV, A., RYZHIK, L., ZLATOŠ, A.: Diffusion and mixing in fluid flow. Ann. Math. 168(2), 643-674, 2008
- COTI ZELATI, M., DELGADINO, M.G., ELGINDI, T.M.: On the relation between enhanced dissipation timescales and mixing rates. *Commun. Pure Appl. Math.* **73**(6), 1205–1244, 2020
- 14. COTI ZELATI, M., DOLCE, M.: Separation of time-scales in drift-diffusion equations on  $R^2$ . J. Math. Pures Appl. **142**, 58–75, 2020
- 15. COTI ZELATI, M., DRIVAS, T.D.: A stochastic approach to enhanced diffusion. Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci. 22(2), 811–834, 2021 MR4288672
- 16. COTI ZELATI, M., GALLAY, T.: Enhanced dissipation and Taylor dispersion in higherdimensional parallel shear flows. *J. Lond. Math. Soc.* **108**(4), 1358–1392, 2023
- 17. DIPERNA, R.J., LIONS, P.-L.: Ordinary differential equations, transport theory and Sobolev spaces. *Invent. Math.* **98**(3), 511–547, 1989
- FANNJIANG, A., PAPANICOLAOU, G.: Convection enhanced diffusion for periodic flows. SIAM J. Appl. Math. 54(2), 333–408, 1994
- Feng, Y., Xu, X.: Dissipation enhancement of cellular flows in general advection diffusion equations. (2022). arXiv:2210.16801
- FENG, Y., IYER, G.: Dissipation enhancement by mixing. *Nonlinearity* 32(5), 1810– 1851, 2019
- 21. HEINZE, S.: Diffusion-advection in cellular flows with large Peclet numbers. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 168(4), 329–342, 2003
- IYER, G., XU, X., ZLATOŠ, A.: Convection-induced singularity suppression in the Keller-Segel and other non-linear PDEs. *Trans. Am. Math. Soc.* 374(9), 6039–6058, 2021
- IYER, G., ZHOU, H.: Quantifying the dissipation enhancement of cellular flows. SIAM J. Math. Anal. 55(6), 6496–6516, 2023

- 24. KELVIN, L.: Stability of fluid motion: rectilinear motion of viscous fluid between two parallel plates. *Philos. Mag.* **24**(5), 188–196, 1887
- KORALOV, L.: Random perturbations of 2-dimensional Hamiltonian flows. *Probab. Theory Related Fields* 129(1), 37–62, 2004
- 26. MARCONI, E.: Differentiability properties of the flow of 2D autonomous vector fields. *J. Differ. Equ.* **301**, 330–352, 2021
- 27. MORSE, A.P.: The behavior of a function on its critical set. Ann. Math. 40(1), 62–70, 1939
- NOVIKOV, A., PAPANICOLAOU, G., RYZHIK, L.: Boundary layers for cellular flows at high Péclet numbers. *Commun. Pure Appl. Math.* 58(7), 867–922, 2005
- 29. RHINES, P.B., YOUNG, W.R.: How rapidly is a passive scalar mixed within closed streamlines? J. Fluid Mech. 133(7), 133–145, 1983
- SARD, A.: The measure of the critical values of differentiable maps. *Bull. Am. Math. Soc.* 48, 883–890, 1942
- 31. VUKADINOVIC, J.: The limit of vanishing diffusivity for passive scalars in Hamiltonian flows. *Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal.* **242**(3), 1395–1444, 2021
- 32. WEI, D.: Diffusion and mixing in fluid flow via the resolvent estimate. *Sci. China Math.* **64**(3), 507–518, 2021

E. BRUÈ Department of Decision Sciences, Bocconi University, Via Sarfatti 25, 20136 Milano (MI) Italy. e-mail: elia.brue@unibocconi.it

and

M. C. ZELATI Department of Mathematics, Imperial College London, London SW7 2AZ UK. e-mail: m.coti-zelati@imperial.ac.uk

and

E. MARCONI Dipartimento di Matematica 'Tullio Levi Civita', Università di Padova, via Trieste 63, 35121 Padova (PD) Italy. e-mail: elio.marconi@unipd.it

(Received October 30, 2023 / Accepted August 23, 2024) © The Author(s) (2024)